

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Role of Social Workers in Psychiatric Patient-Centered Care with U.S. Veterans

Alesia Michelle Noce-Owen Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Alesia Michelle Noce-Owen

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Sean Hogan, Committee Chairperson, Social Work Faculty

Dr. Douglas Crews, Committee Member, Social Work Faculty

Dr. Nancy Campbell, University Reviewer, Social Work Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Role of Social Workers in Psychiatric Patient-Centered Care with U.S. Veterans

by

Alesia Michelle Noce-Owen

MS, West Virginia University, 2009

BS, Fairmont State University, 2004

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

February 2020

Abstract

Social workers play an important role in the implementation of patient-centered care (PCC) within an interdisciplinary treatment team in an inpatient psychiatric unit. The PCC approach can become overwhelming and stressful for interdisciplinary team members because the definition of PCC varies across disciplines. The purpose of this qualitative action research study was to explore social workers' perceptions of their role within an interdisciplinary team, including barriers to social work inclusion and PCC. Ecological systems theory provided the framework for the study. Interview data were collected from 2 focus groups containing a total of 10 purposively selected social workers. A grounded theory approach was used to analyze the data. Findings indicated the need for better communication among and education for interdisciplinary psychiatric team members regarding the scope of social work practice. Participants reported being devalued as members of the interdisciplinary team and confirmed that the definition of PCC varies across disciplines, which creates barriers for social work facilitation of PCC within the interdisciplinary team. Findings may be used to mitigate gaps that inhibit interdisciplinary team practice of PCC, which may improve social work practice with veterans.

Role of Social Workers in Psychiatric Patient-Centered Care With U.S. Veterans

by

Alesia Michelle Noce-Owen

MS, West Virginia University, 2009

BS, Fairmont State University, 2004

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

February 2020

Dedication

I want to acknowledge my savior, Jesus Christ. This journey was not only educational but spiritual. I have found myself more anchored to the cross, grounded in my spirituality, a happier and much better person for it. I John 4:4 "You, dear children, are from God and have overcome them because the one who is in you is greater than the one who is in the world."

To Christopher, my loving husband, you have always been my biggest cheerleader, encouraged me when I felt that I couldn't go on, and supported me emotionally through every avenue of my career and educational endeavors. You are truly my best friend and my soulmate, and I could not imagine walking this life with anyone but you by my side. You are amazing, and I love you with every fiber of my being.

To my parents who have demonstrated nothing but unconditional love and support for me, I love you. You taught me the true meaning of love and the importance of family. To my sister, Paige, you are the strongest and most amazing woman I know, and I love you. David, you left us too soon, but I am thankful to you for being a wonderful husband to my sister and phenomenal father to my nephew. You will be forever loved and missed. Our tremendous loss is heaven's great gain. Julian, I love you more than you will ever know, and I am so proud of the young man you are becoming.

To my friends, thank you for always loving and believing in me when I didn't believe in myself. I am blessed beyond measure to have you in my life.

Freedom . . . Sweet, sweet freedom! I look forward to picking up a book to read for pleasure and not feel the need to highlight and take notes!

Acknowledgments

I want to acknowledge Dr. Sean Hogan, chair, for having exemplary patience with me and for always offering kind words of encouragement, guidance, and support. Thank you for the reassurance and support throughout this entire research process. I have much appreciation and respect for you. I also want to acknowledge Dr. Douglas Crews, committee member, for offering kind guidance in the progress of this study and for challenging my ideas. Dr. Hogan and Dr. Crews forced me to think outside of the box in the early stages of development. Although I second-guessed my abilities, you both provided me with the encouragement that I needed to build my confidence. Thank you so much!

I want to acknowledge Pastor Luke Luzier, Samantha Luzier, Pastor Pam Gross, and the late Pastor Philip Gross for always lifting me in prayer. Thank you to Randy Landes for being a phenomenal task manager, clinical supervisor, colleague, and friend. I appreciate you so very much!

Dr. Kris Hash, Dr. Karen Harper-Dorton, Dr. Neil Newfield, Dr. Doris Nichols, Dr. Pamela Sullivan, Dr. Joel Vogt, Dr. Chad Priestley, Dr. Heather Brown, Samuel Leizear and, Lori Fell, thank you seems inadequate. You have been a huge influence in my life and career.

Table of Contents

Se	ection 1: Foundation for the Study and Literature Review	1
	Problem Statement	3
	Relevance of the Problem	4
	Previous Contributions	5
	Problem in the Work Setting	6
	Purpose Statement and Research Questions	9
	Research Questions	10
	Key Terms	11
	Nature of the Doctoral Project	12
	Participants and Source of Data	13
	Significance of the Doctoral Project	15
	Theoretical Framework	16
	Process for Literature Review	19
	Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	19
	Recovery Model	19
	Interdisciplinary Team Practice	21
	Team Communication	24
	Patient-Centered Care	26
	Role of Social Work Profession	29
	Military Culture	29
	Gaps in the Research	31

Summary	32
Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection	34
Research Design	34
Practice Problem	34
Research Questions	36
Nature of the Study	36
Study Rationale	37
Key Terms	39
Methodology	40
Data Sources	40
Participants	42
Instrumentation	44
Focus Groups	44
Data Analysis	46
Methods to Address Rigor	48
Ethical Procedures	50
Summary	52
Section 3: Presentation of the Findings	55
Data Analysis Techniques	56
Validation Procedures	60
Audit Trail	61
Field Testing	61

Member Checking.	61
Limitations	62
Findings	63
Descriptive Characteristics	63
Common Themes	64
Challenges for Social Workers on Psychiatric Interdisciplinary Teams	64
Theme 1: Perception of Being a Devalued Member of the Team	64
Theme 2: Communication.	67
How to Deliver Patient-Centered Care More Effectively	70
Theme 1: Education	70
Theme 2: Advocacy	71
Unexpected Findings	73
Summary	73
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social	
Change	76
Key Findings	76
Contribution to Knowledge	78
Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice	78
Recommended Solutions	80
Action Step 1	80
Action Step 2	81
Action Step 3	81

Impact on Personal Practice	82
Recommendations for Additional Research	83
Team Communication.	83
Civilian Interdisciplinary Teams	83
Recruitment	84
Policy Change and Research	84
Limitations	84
External Validity	84
Trustworthiness and Rigor	85
Strengths of the Study	86
Dissemination	87
Implications for Social Change	88
Micro-Level Change	88
Mezzo-Level Change	89
Macro-Level Change	90
Summary	90
References	92
Appendix A: Invitation	111
Appendix B: Demographics and Information Worksheet	112
Appendix C: Focus Group Questions	114

Section 1: Foundation for the Study and Literature Review

In recent years, mental health treatment has shifted from a medical model to one that is patient centered and recovery oriented (Zuehlke, Kotecki, Kern, Sholty, & Hauser, 2016). Historically, the medical model represented a hierarchical structure that provided physicians more authority than the patients and family regarding treatment planning (Zimmerman & Dabelko, 2007). The Veterans Health Administration (VHA) introduced a paradigm shift toward patient-centered care (PCC) that focuses on personalized veteran care; PCC is proactive in nature, as opposed to reactive, and puts veterans in charge of the decisions made by their treatment team (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs [VA], 2016). The National Association of Social Workers (NASW) supports PCC as it aligns with and embraces the principles of the social work profession (Whitaker, 2014) in the context of the right to client self-determination, dignity, self-worth, and social justice (NASW, 2008). This action research study was conducted to investigate the role that social workers play in PCC with an interdisciplinary team on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The paradigm shift in treatment from a medical model to PCC may afford clinical social work practitioners an increased role on psychiatric interdisciplinary treatment teams and an opportunity to introduce other professions to the values and practices of professional social work consistent with this new and emerging treatment model.

The current literature indicated the failure to provide a full range of holistic services as the biggest gap in inpatient psychiatric programs and services. The gap reflects the need for comprehensive PCC to meet the physical,7 psychological, social, and spiritual needs of veterans (Enguidanos, Coulourides Kogan, Schreibeis-Baum,

Lendon, & Lorenz, 2015). The role that social work plays in PCC can facilitate policy change in the functional statements of the interdisciplinary team members. The role can also permit social workers to provide PCC resources to the veteran and steer team treatment and discharge planning based on what is identified as most important by the veteran (Craig & Muskat, 2013). The most significant social change implication of this study was social workers providing education and training to inpatient psychiatric employees regarding the importance of PCC to foster an environment focused on the veterans' perceptions of their needs. Asking the veteran "what matters to you?" instead of "what is the matter with you?" may influence the mind-set of clinical staff and create change.

The NASW (2008) emphasized the value of a patient's right to self-determination, which is the assistance provided to clients in identifying personal goals and objectives. Social workers are well-suited to facilitate PCC. The tenants of PCC correlate with social work values and principles by supporting a holistic approach to treatment. This comprehensive approach makes social workers a beneficial element within an interdisciplinary team in the instruction and promotion of PCC. The social worker will act as an educator with the interdisciplinary team, the veteran, and the family regarding the veterans' right to self-determination. The social worker will serve as a mediator in PCC in treatment team meetings and dialogue regarding the various treatment options to ensure the veteran has a voice in decisions. Without compromising the integrity and dignity of the veteran, social workers can advocate for the veterans' right to oversee their treatment and promote a willingness to consider professional perspectives. his doctoral

project addressed the barriers that prevent social workers from facilitating PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit with an interdisciplinary team.

The first section of the doctoral project includes the problem statement, purpose statement, and background of the problem in the work setting. The first section also includes the research questions, including the variables addressed in the study, and definition of key terms, concepts, and constraints. The nature of the doctoral project is explained and includes information about participants and methods of data collection. The theoretical framework is identified, as well as the applicability of the framework to the social work problem. The first section concludes with a comprehensive literature review and the methods used to obtain supportive and relevant documentation.

Problem Statement

The literature indicated that inpatient psychiatric treatment teams experience significant struggles. There are limited administrative leadership involvement and guidance, staffing issues and time constraints, and collateral duties for many of the team members (Barry, Abraham, Weaver, & Bowersox, 2016). There is a lack of clearly defined roles among interdisciplinary team members, which creates a disconnect and poorly designed treatment collaboration with the veteran clients (Barry et al., 2016). An inpatient psychiatric unit interdisciplinary team may consist of a psychiatrist, physician assistant, clinical pharmacist, social worker/therapist, and nurse. Social workers often attempt to understand the problem from the veteran's perspective and are not always in agreement with the attending psychiatrist's or the interdisciplinary team member's interpretation of the presenting problem (Kerson & McCoyd, 2013). One of the

implications associated with this treatment model is how PCC varies in meaning across disciplines. The first approach in communication between an interdisciplinary team and the veteran should be a PCC approach, which allows the veteran to participate actively in the development of treatment goals and objectives. The application of a social work framework and methodology suggests fostering better communication between the provider and the veteran while also providing effective treatment (Lind, Powell-Cope, Chavez, Frazer, & Harrow, 2013). Social workers are good candidates in the facilitation of PCC with an interdisciplinary team. Social workers possess the skills to advocate for the veteran's rights to self-determination (NASW, 2008), to identify communication barriers within the treatment team, and to guide treatment that is patient centered (Müller et al., 2015).

Relevance of the Problem

Social workers and interdisciplinary team members may benefit from information gained through this action research study by building better relationships and care within the team and with the veteran clients. The PCC philosophy focuses not only on what is important to veterans in their treatment, but also on learning to listen and respond with validation and respect and on using these same practice tools when interacting with colleagues, peers, and team members. In this action research project, I situated social workers in a position of leadership that will encourage critical thinking by team members regarding old, unproductive, and dated practice (see Humphries & Howard, 2014). An integrated and efficient structure that includes social work, psychiatry, nursing, and

pharmacy will aid in the management of resources, maximize productivity, and decrease stress in the workplace.

Previous Contributions

On the national level, veterans have a higher rating in recovery-oriented and patient-centered responses and relate positive outcomes to consumer involvement in program development (Leddy-Stacy, Stefanovics, & Rosenheck, 2016). However, on the local level, researchers recommended increasing PCC through veteran engagement, participation in leadership, and program development (Leddy-Stacy et al., 2016). Research indicated there are minimal studies available to describe the impact of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit or the role that social work plays in the facilitation of PCC (Zuehlke et al., 2016). The implementation of PCC means a shift in practice paradigms for members from different disciplines. Jormfeld, Brunt, Rask, Bengtsson, and Svedberg (2016) suggested that research focused on PCC, social work, and interdisciplinary teams is needed. Social workers are trained in holistic practice and take a different approach to the delivery of services than other team members (Jormfeld et al., 2016). Although PCC is part of the training for social workers, that does not ensure that training will result in a change in the system for the veteran clients. Craig and Muskat (2013) stated that social workers are trained within an ecological perspective and encouraged to examine an individual concerning a more extensive social system; social work training also emphasizes a focus on understanding a person within the context of their environment. Despite the multitude of services that social workers provide, there remains limited

research about social workers' perception of their role within the hospital or when participating in an interdisciplinary team (Craig & Muskat, 2013).

The basic tenets of PCC align with many of the social work principles identified in the NASW Code of Ethics (NASW, 2008). There are a wealth of benefits for social work practice, such as increased leadership opportunities, in the facilitation of PCC with interdisciplinary teams. Interdisciplinary team members' role definitions are critical to effective treatment. The differences in the values, education, work experiences, and professional status among interdisciplinary team members have implications for social work practice and the implementation of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit (Grace, Rich, Chin, & Rodriguez, 2014). Researchers also support veterans reporting good care from providers in an integrated or interdisciplinary approach but strongly feel there is poor communication among providers regarding the veterans mental health, physical health, and social needs Vijayalakshmy, Hebert, Green, & Ingram, 2011).

Problem in the Work Setting

The recently introduced approach to PCC by the VHA focuses on what is most important to the veteran in treatment planning. In military-based social work, the VHA is transforming care to align with evidence-based practice and recovery-oriented treatment (McGuire, White, White, & Salyers, 2013). Although the mental health recovery model that rolled out in 2003 suggests a focus on life goals, involvement, and treatment options, it does not consider what matters to the veteran and how the promise of recovery and hope for the future can be achieved (Kymalainen et al., 2010).

Shared decision-making in mental health has emerged as an indicator of treatment satisfaction, and satisfaction is evaluated by how well the veteran's emotional and physical needs are met (Klingaman et al., 2015). There is a rich body of literature available on the application of the recovery model in veteran treatment. Kidd, McKenzie, and Virdee (2014) found that a recovery approach on an inpatient psychiatric unit demonstrated efficacy in patient engagement, increased hope for the future, and increased awareness of illness and medication. Additionally, Rabenschlag, Konrad, Rueegg, and Jaeger (2014) demonstrated that a recovery model approach to treatment on an inpatient psychiatric unit was successfully implemented and suggested a cohesiveness of an interdisciplinary team in the implementation of treatment goals and therapeutic attitudes.

The recovery model embraces a holistic approach to treatment and aims to maximize the client's autonomy through empowerment and to provide hope for the future (Hebblethwaite, 2013). Research indicated the use of the recovery approach in a variety of treatment environments, including long-term care, end-of-life care, rehabilitation, and HIV/AIDS (Hebblethwaite, 2013). Frese, Stanley, Kress, and Vogel-Scibilia (2001), suggested that mental health treatment is calling for more evidence-based treatment modalities. The recovery model of treatment emphasizes the veteran clients guide their recovery process that focuses on healing, empowerment, and a sense of hope for the future (Frese et al., 2001). Mental health treatment with veterans continues to focus on strength-based and recovery-oriented approaches (Thompson, Bennett, Sable, & Gravink, 2016). Perkins and Slade (2012) posited that there is no single definitive approach to recovery, and everyone must find what works best for them. According to Frost et al.

(2017), recovery is not only an approach to treatment but also a result. There is a strong presence of the recovery approach in evidence-based practice; those treatment frameworks have demonstrated efficacy in practice application (Frost et al., 2017). Giannitrapani et al. (2016) suggested that interdisciplinary team membership brings about professional role ambiguity. Patients who need specialty services may question how specialty services align with the recovery concept (Fix et al., 2014). Some mental health care providers express concern for patient-directed care and posit that patients are not well educated on their diagnoses and available treatment options (Berghout, Exel, Leensvaart, & Cramm, 2015). The core values found in the NASW Code of Ethics emphasize the importance of human relationships, respecting the dignity and worth of the client, and the right to self-determination (NASW, 2008). The NASW Code of Ethics complements the foundation of PCC as it focuses on what is most important to the veteran in their recovery journey.

The focus of the role that social workers play in PCC will provide for the development of leadership and offer the opportunity to train other social workers and team members in the practice of PCC on inpatient psychiatric units. There is evidence in the current study for the expansion and development of personal and clinical knowledge that is grounded in mindfulness and permits improved practice with evidence-based models of treatment. According to Peres (2016), social work's specialized training in assessment and person-in-environment approach allows for the identification of barriers to treatment that may relate to culture, communication, and perception of the presenting issues.

Purpose Statement and Research Questions

In this action research study, I explored the role that social work plays in PCC through improved communication with other disciplines on the veteran's treatment team, defining disciplinary functions and responsibilities, and focusing on PCC collaboratively. At the time of the study, there was a disconnect between disciplines involved in the veteran's treatment, and social work may be able to close that gap. Buettgen et al. (2012) recommended examining four principles of participatory research and how they impact or enable an interdisciplinary team's ability to work together:

- 1. Allow the individual to verbalize their perception of the problem.
- 2. Individual or group involvement provides a holistic and accurate picture of the presenting issues.
- 3. Facilitate increased awareness of personal or group strengths and the ability to identify access to helpful resources.
- 4. Positive outcomes and improved quality of life for the individual or group.

The current study may facilitate change by unifying the interdisciplinary team members in the development of goals that are relevant to, and identified by, the veteran. According to Norton, Russell, Wisner, and Uriarte (2011), reflective teaching, which will develop an understanding of self and others, is recommended for the training of professional social workers. The desired outcome is for the interdisciplinary treatment team to practice PCC focused on what is important to the veteran and allowing that to steer practice and optimize team communication. Lind et al. (2013) suggested that an

increase in provider-patient discussion regarding treatment demonstrates positive outcomes.

Research Questions

In this action research study, I sought to understand the role of social workers in the facilitation and implementation of PCC with an interdisciplinary team on an inpatient psychiatric unit focused on veteran treatment. The research questions (RQs) for the study were the following:

RQ1: What are the challenges facing clinical social work practitioners participating on interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment teams?

RQ2: What do clinical social work practitioners perceive would help them deliver more effective PCC to veterans with mental health disorders?

A few identified variables for the study included the composition of an interdisciplinary team, including who, how many, and from which disciplines members are represented. Variables also included whether members of the team are full-time, licensed, and credentialed employees. An example of a common situation that affects the composition of the team is the following: If the attending psychiatrist is on vacation, the coverage is provided by an on-call psychiatrist who may have a different view of the role that social work plays on an interdisciplinary team and the practice of PCC. The differing professional philosophies (e.g., medical model versus the biopsychosocial model; paternalism versus self-determination) between team members is an identified variable. The length of service and years of experience were also considered to be important variables for some clinical social work practitioners and their interaction with

interdisciplinary treatment teams. Additional influential variables included the interactions among treatment team members, the needs and services provided to each veteran, and the severity of a client's mental illness.

Key Terms

Inpatient psychiatric unit: A locked unit with 12 beds that is considered short-term (7-10 days) treatment. Veterans on the inpatient unit have experienced suicidal ideations or have made an active attempt at suicide.

Interdisciplinary team: A diverse group of professionals (psychiatrists, physician's assistant, pharmacists, social workers, nurses) who work on a common goal in treatment planning for a veteran.

Medical model: An approach that assumes that behaviors are the result of physical or psychological problems and best treated through medication.

Military culture: A unique tradition and experience by individuals who served in the armed forces and shared in the structure and leadership. Some subcultures exist such as branches of the military (i.e., Army, Navy, Marines, Air Force, Coast Guard). Each branch or subculture has unwritten rules, procedures, and perspectives.

National Association of Social Workers: A professional organization of social workers in the United States. The NASW subscribed and developed the code of ethics that guides social work practice.

Patient-centered care: A whole health approach to help veterans guide their treatment and maintain good overall health (VA, 2013).

Recovery model: A holistic approach to treatment that is person centered. This model focuses on how individuals remain in control of their lives and focus on goals that are important to them.

Veteran: A person who has served in a branch of the U.S. military.

Nature of the Doctoral Project

Action research is a systematic approach to inquiry that allows for the discovery of an effective solution to problems (Stringer, 2010). The ability for action research to focus on specific issues provided an opportunity for enhanced and improved engagement in a shared problem and implementation of a well-developed solution. According to Kristiansen et al. (2015), patients with severe mental illness have the highest risk of death due to a comorbid physical health problem such as diabetes or heart disease as they are related to smoking and alcohol use. The social workers on an inpatient psychiatric unit play a pivotal role in focusing on PCC and taking a leadership role in a holistic approach with the treatment team. According to Peres (2016), social workers are skilled in the assessment and identification of biological, psychological, sociological, and spiritual needs of clients. The PCC paradigm places veterans in charge of their treatment and empowers them by concentrating on what matters most to them.

In the current study, a qualitative approach was used that included focus groups for data collection. The quantitative component included demographic information for study participants and their perceptions of the implementation and inclusion of PCC within an interdisciplinary team. The collection of qualitative data came from two focus groups that were composed of 10 social workers who had experience with the treatment

and discharge planning for the veteran clients on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The focus groups allowed the participating social workers to report their perceptions of practice issues (e.g., exclusion) and avenues to allow PCC to guide individual practice and interdisciplinary team treatment planning.

On inpatient psychiatric units, the average length of stay is 7-10 days; therefore, optimizing brief therapy and evidenced-based interventions is critical in the successful treatment of veterans. The first approach is solution-focused therapy, which is goal oriented. The PCC approach aligns with the solution-focused approach and the miracle question. The new PCC approach introduced by the VHA stops asking "what's the matter with you?" and focuses on "what matters to you?"

The selected design aligned with the purpose statement and research questions because of the theoretical framework for this study. Systems theory explains how social workers are part of a system and the impact on the components by the communication within the interdisciplinary team in the facilitation of PCC. An inpatient psychiatric unit operates from a multi-theoretical perspective; however, systems theory was a good fit for this action research study because it is concerned with the composition of complex systems and how they relate to one another and the whole system (see Walsh, 2013).

Participants and Source of Data

The participants in this action research study were social workers who had been involved in the treatment and discharge planning for veterans on an inpatient psychiatric unit. These social workers interact within an interdisciplinary treatment team and other program coordinators from other disciplines. The social workers who participated in this

study perform several social work tasks including treatment and discharge planning with the veteran, as well as addressing suicidality, homelessness, legal issues, affordable housing, employment, residential treatment programs, transitional care management, mental health case management, and home-based primary care. All participants had interdisciplinary team experience on an inpatient psychiatric unit and were licensed at the generalist or clinical level.

I used a qualitative approach including focus groups. The focus group discussions captured the perceptions of the difficulty in the implementation of PCC within an interdisciplinary team. The focus group meetings were valuable because they allowed the social workers to hear and respond to each other's thoughts regarding the tenets of PCC and an interdisciplinary team.

The data collected from the focus groups were audio-recorded and transcribed by me. The data were viewed and coded to identify themes. The audio recordings were used to capture the participants' experiences, perceptions, and suggestions for change, and were transcribed verbatim. According to Onwuegbuzie, Dickinson, Leech, and Zoran (2009), transcript analysis is rigorous and involves comparison with the notes taken by the moderator and assistant moderators of the focus groups.

Following the collection of the data, the content analysis of the qualitative data is a thematic approach (Braun & Clark, 2006). This method was flexible and twofold in the examination of the themes directly related to the role that social work plays in PCC with an interdisciplinary team and the view that was independent of any theoretical and epistemological influences (see Braun & Clark, 2006). I identified common themes that

social workers share in the facilitation of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit within an interdisciplinary team. Findings may be used to influence strategies that are more efficient or aid in the continuing process of action research on the topic. The findings from this study may also drive instructional content and provide support for social workers who are not clear on the basic tenets of PCC and improved communication within the team. An inductive analysis allowed for the unexpected and encouraged responses from participants related to the topic, but also included additional influences such as culture in relationship to PCC, contact with members of an interdisciplinary team, and personal concept of influence toward change (see Gale, Heath, Cameron, Rashid, & Redwood, 2013).

Significance of the Doctoral Project

The purpose of this action research project was to understand better the role that social workers play in PCC within an interdisciplinary team on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The benefits of this doctoral project may be manifest in the increased communication between social workers and other team members. This research may also encourage social workers to become certified instructors of the PCC approach and provide clinical instruction to peers and colleagues. Findings from the action research study may promote additional education for staff and social workers in the expansion of policy practice and a new focus on what is important to veteran clients.

The action research project permitted collaborative work with social workers who are involved in the veteran's treatment while they are on the inpatient psychiatric unit.

Social workers from a variety of programs, including homelessness, suicide prevention,

outpatient mental health case management, transitional care, and outpatient primary care, play pivotal roles in the discharge planning and the ability for veteran clients to sustain good mental health after discharge. McNiff (2016) suggested that if a person believes that practice can be improved, then action can be taken in the direction of therapeutic and social change. Providing more efficient services to veterans suffering from mental illness may positively impact the veterans, their families, and society as a whole.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework used for this action research study was systems theory. According to Frerichs, Lich, Dave, and Corbie-Smith (2016), systems theory addresses the relationships between parts of a system and how those relationships impact the operation of the system. Systems theory is concerned with the composition of complex systems and how they relate to one another and the entire system (Walsh, 2013). The foundation of general systems theory was created by von Bertalanffy. In his early twenties, von Bertanlanffy wrote on systems and began formulation his theory but it was not until after World War II that he was able to publish his work (Whitechurch & Contstantine, 2009).

Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory was developed from general systems theory (Oliver, 2013). Bronfenbrenner's (1977) ecological systems theory focuses on how the environment influences the development of an individual. Bronfenbrenner posited that systems influence development, including the microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem. The microsystem focuses on an individual's immediate environment, relationships, and interaction with organizations

(Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The mesosystem focuses on how different parts of the system work together for the good of the individual (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The people in the work environment, extended family members, and neighbors are considered in the exosystem (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The macrosystem refers to the external systems that affect an individual, such as government, war, or culture (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). Events throughout life constitute the chronosystem. Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory focuses on the patterns and interrelatedness of many systems (Darling, 2007).

Bronfenbrenner looked beyond the interpersonal influences, as suggested by Bandura, and considered the cultural, environmental, and overall health as it relates to behavior (Snyder, 2014). The multifaceted approach suggested by Bronfenbrenner correlates with the PCC approach, which focuses on the mind, body, and soul. The method considers the goals that are most important to the veteran client and allows for empowerment in treatment goals.

The relationship that a social worker has with the client is pivotal when examining the success and accomplishment of goals. The ecological systems theory encourages social workers to practice excellent communication skills, mindfulness, being aware of self, and empowerment (Oliver, 2013). These are some of the tenets used in the development of a trusting relationship with the clients but are also the catalyst that helps in the attainment of goals, providing the client with motivation for the future and access to other needed systems (Oliver, 2013). These are also the same relationship skills a social worker needs in team building, working in a stressful relationship, and advocating for services (Oliver, 2013).

For this action research study, the ecological systems theory was appropriate because social workers can infuse their identity into an interdisciplinary team and facilitate the practice of PCC. The social workers can assume a role of leadership and allow team members to maintain their professional status through collaborative work to decrease the perceived threat to team members' professional integrity. With the ecological systems approach, the social worker can examine the tensions and relationships between team members and act as the conduit between the team members regarding the practice of PCC.

In consideration of the recovery model and a PCC approach in treatment, a systems framework provides a comprehensive and holistic view of the veteran's care. This approach in treatment aligns with the goals of PCC. Research indicated that multiple paradigms exist in PCC and become complex in research (Martin & Félix-Bortolotti, 2014). The explanation of the complexity in the study of PCC was evidenced in the study by Rabenschlag et al. (2014) who posited that PCC calls for a change in the roles, values, and attitudes of the professionals on a team. The literature also indicated that PCC demonstrates more efficacy with outpatient services than inpatient mental health services (Rabenschlag et al., 2014).

The focus of this action research study was on the PCC paradigm that emphasizes a greater understanding and expanded knowledge of the veteran's mental health care journey through self-rated personal health, personal stories, and goals to improve their physical, psychological, and spiritual health. An additional focus was on creating a

collaborative application within the interdisciplinary team regarding the PCC approach in treatment planning on an inpatient psychiatric unit.

Process for Literature Review

The literature reviewed for this action research study came from the Walden University and West Virginia University libraries. The primary empirical and theoretical literature also came from the Walden University library. The databases used included military and government collection, PsycArticles, SocIndex, PsycINFO, ProQuest, and Medline. Google Scholar provided forward and backward searches of related articles and information. The parameters of the information gathered included publication within 5 years of the completion of this action research study. Literature was reviewed electronically, saved digitally, and printed.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Recovery Model

Medicine has its roots in a paternalistic concept in practice (Jacob, 2015). A patient would present to their provider with concerns, an examination would be completed, tests would be ordered, a diagnosis would be given, medication would be prescribed, and a plan for treatment would be outlined. The physicians would be expected to acknowledge the patient's questions and concerns; physicians would also maintain a high expectation that the patient will follow their recommendations for treatment.

For individuals with mental illness, the interpretation of recovery is the maintenance and control of their life opposed to the return to the providers' perception of the person's baseline of functioning within the diagnosed mental illness (Jacob, 2015).

The recovery model does not focus on symptoms but rather on the strengths of an individual, and capitalizes on those areas that allow for the achievement of excellence (VA, 2016). According to Getty (2015), the underlying concept in the recovery model is the fostering of hope for clients; regardless how effective treatment goals appear, they will be challenging to obtain if the client and staff are not present, engaged, and hopeful. Formerly, physicians had perceived symptoms and diagnosis as a limitation to the success and sustainability of self-discovery and personal growth (Jacob, 2015). A recovery model does not focus on symptoms but instead recognizes that specific topics will require more time in treatment (Getty, 2015). The tenets of the recovery model, interventions geared toward recovery, staff development in recovery, patient and staff involvement in treatment planning, unit programming, and collaborative recoveryoriented interdisciplinary team meetings yield positive outcomes (Zuehlke et al., 2016). Zuehlke et al. (2016) also noted that the practice of the recovery model on an inpatient psychiatric unit has positive outcomes as patients and staff are more engaged, the language becomes recovery focused, communication is more respectful, and the interdisciplinary team functions more efficiently.

On the heels of an executive order, the New Freedom Commission on Mental Health signed by President George W. Bush, the VA adopted a veteran-driven model of recovery (Drapalski et al., 2012). The executive order was intended to elicit a comprehensive evaluation of the delivery of mental health services and to eradicate inequality in the provision of services to those persons with severe mental illness.

Traditionally, the term *recovery* is associated with the elimination or reduction of

behaviors or symptoms. However, the veteran-driven model of recovery posits that a person can overcome mental illness through empowerment and hope for the future (Drapalski et al., 2012). According to Zuehlke et al. (2016), the recovery model provides the opportunity for the veteran clients to engage in their treatment with staff and experience empowerment.

The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2012) developed a working definition of recovery, which identifies recovery as a process of change that provides individuals the opportunity to improve personal health and well-being oversee their treatment, and live life to the fullest. The tenets of recovery are self-determination and self-directed as indicated by veterans selecting the goals and the pathway to achieving their self-prescribed goals. The recovery model allows veterans to feel empowered and build on individual strengths in their endeavor to achieve autonomy (Chiu, Ho, Lo, & Yiu, 2010).

Interdisciplinary Team Practice

To better understand the role of social work within the team structure, a person must understand the function of the team. An interdisciplinary team is defined as members from various disciplines coming together and building a plan for recovery (Schofield & Amodeo, 1999). An interdisciplinary team contrasts with a multidisciplinary team, which relies on each discipline creating their plans and participating in their way (Schofield & Amodeo, 1999).

Throughout the years, the team approaches to treatment have been challenged to demonstrate that they are effective in service delivery (Schofield & Amodeo, 1999).

However, according to Craig et al. (2016), the outcomes are better for individuals who have an interdisciplinary treatment team compared to individuals who have experienced a traditional medical model approach to treatment. The interdisciplinary team model is a holistic approach to treatment that promotes the tenets of PCC by concentrating on empowerment and patient autonomy (Craig et al., 2016). Research also indicated that patients will often share their social concerns with a social worker before sharing them with their doctor (Craig et al., 2016). The effectiveness of an interdisciplinary team is contingent on the team's awareness of the patient's perspective regarding the issues and problems (Craig et al., 2016). According to Craig et al. (2016), social work plays a pivotal role within an interdisciplinary team in the assessment of psychosocial needs and in identifying risks associated with less than favorable mental health outcomes. Lohmeier Law and Saunders (2016) credited social workers with bringing a person-in-environment perspective to the team and playing a significant role in broadening the understanding of the influence of culture, family dynamics, diversity, and other person-centered factors that facilitate cohesiveness within the interdisciplinary team.

Interdisciplinary teams are becoming widely accepted in mental health care. According to Ke et al. (2013), a team approach to treatment is responsible for the effective health care management and cost-effective treatment. Team-based models to treatment are recognized and endorsed by medical and mental health professionals in demonstrating efficacy in treatment compared with the "business as usual" approach (Bary et al., 2016, p. 148).

Veterans who returned from Operation Iraqi Freedom, Operation Enduring
Freedom, and Operation New Dawn with complex medical and mental health issues were
best treated by an interdisciplinary team (Wooten, 2015). Post-traumatic stress disorder,
traumatic brain injury, depression, long-term pain issues, burns, loss of limbs, and
physical problems are the challenges in behavioral health (Wooten, 2015). The
interdisciplinary team model permits a holistic approach to treatment and considers the
body, mind, and spirit in treatment. The responsibility of an inpatient psychiatric social
worker includes participation with an interdisciplinary team and skilled communication
regarding discharge planning, which may consist of nursing home placement, homeless
shelters, veteran domiciliary, and other avenues of institutional care and treatment (Slana,
Dobrikova, Hromkova, & Letovancova, 2016).

The role of social work on an interdisciplinary team has traditionally been one of shared respect and cooperation. A skilled social worker can discover and often enrich the presenting issues (Craig et al., 2016). Conflict on the team presents when there are differences regarding power, the precise role of team members is not defined and understood, and disputes related to practice, approach, and communication are unresolved (Farley, 1994).

Historically, the treatment teams have experienced a hierarchical culture in which physicians appear to be more knowledgeable than team members, the patient, or family members, and therefore discount the strengths and preferred treatment approach for the veteran client and team members (Zimmerman & Dabelko, 2007). When members of the interdisciplinary team have the impression that they are not an equal to other members of

the team, dominant group will have authority to set the standards of treatment (Giles, 2016). This places team colleagues in a position in which they perceive that their voices are not valued, which compromises the effectiveness of the team approach (Giles, 2016).

Physicians find the paradigm shift from a medical model to PCC challenging, and the distinction of roles and responsibilities helps to aid in the successful implementation of PCC (Giannitrapani et al., 2016). Some physicians have trouble supporting PCC because they do not feel that their patients know enough about their disease or disorder to make sound medical or mental health decisions; therefore, physicians hesitate to allow patients to guide their treatment (Berghout et al., 2015). Social workers do not always accept the physician's perception of the veteran's problem or the physician's suggested solution. Instead, social workers strive to see the problem from the veteran's perspective, broaden the understanding of the issues, assist the veteran in the development of goals, and provide access to resources (Kerson & McCoyd, 2013). Clarity of roles is beneficial not only for the team members but also for the veterans served. Defining roles improves communication with the veteran and team members, and expectations are clear (Grace et al., 2014). The members of the team may vary according to education, experience, values, and professional status; however, the practice of structured communication and identifying roles engages team members to take on additional responsibilities and integrate new functions (Grace et al., 2014).

Team Communication

Communication is vital to an interdisciplinary team. Professionals on an interdisciplinary team should know what the other members are doing for the veteran

client (Berghout et al., 2015). Exemplary care is evident when team communication is optimized (Hack et al., 2016). When the practice of excellent communication exists between the veteran and provider, there will be efficacy in engagement and compliance with treatment over time (Hack et al., 2016). The PCC approach permits the social worker and interdisciplinary team to examine the problem in the words of the veteran. The value of having the perceived problem presented by the veteran demonstrates continuity and engages the veteran in treatment and encourages a partnership with the team on achievable goals (Hack et al., 2016).

According to Giles (2016), a team that is not functioning well can result in poor outcomes for the patients they serve. Lennon-Dearing, Florence, Halvorson, and Pollard (2012) noted that training experiences enhance the interdisciplinary team members' communication, problem-solving, and listening skills. With a high-functioning interdisciplinary team that maximizes communication, patients experience better outcomes, higher consumer satisfaction, and improved service delivery (Lennon-Dearing et al., 2012).

PCC drives interpersonal team relationships that promote the most efficient service coordination (Bunger, 2010). The practice of PCC by an interdisciplinary team that experiences strong interpersonal relationships will demonstrate efficacy. However, research indicated that the language used by different disciplines may create boundaries in the execution of engagement for the patient, and that a common language should be used in service delivery (Piña et al., 2015). Language can also create a barrier when attempting to operationalize the meaning of patient-centered by different

disciplines(Barry et al., 2016). Meeting daily and extending the length of time of team meetings is recommended to improve communication (Barry et al., 2016).

Research indicated that storytelling enhances communication with the interdisciplinary team. According to Bennett et al. (2015), storytelling provides a sense of team cohesiveness, increases understanding of the patient and where they are coming from, improves communication within the team regarding patient care, improves productivity, provides a clearer understanding of roles, and improves work morale. Storytelling is a central tenet of the PCC approach; it allows for authenticity and aids in building trust and rapport (VA, 2016). The PCC approach encourages providers to consider professional and personal mental models in storytelling. A mental model includes the thoughts, assumptions, and beliefs associated with the world that are based on personal experiences, culture, and other influences (VA, 2016). Storytelling is useful in the discovery of what is important to veterans and their values.

Patient-Centered Care

The transformation in behavioral health treatment for the veterans began after the attacks on September 11, 2001. Behavioral health treatment experienced a paradigm shift from the traditional medical model to a model that is more patient centered (Humphries & Howard, 2014). PCC involves more than treating someone with respect and dignity. Everyone deserves treatment that includes respect and dignity; however, PCC goes beyond the basics and includes engaging veterans in their treatment, finding out what is most important to them, and setting their treatment goals (Berghout et al., 2015).

In 2012, the Director of the VA's Office of Patient-Centered Care and Cultural Transformation suggested that the future of health care for veterans is in the inquiry of how providers can assist veterans in living their lives to the fullest (VA, 2016). The new PCC approach considers eight aspects of the veteran's life, such as physical (working the body), physical and emotional surroundings, personal and work life, nourishment and drink, recharging, relationships, spirit, and soul relaxing and healing (VA, 2013). This approach also considers the professional and community impact on the achievement of the veteran's personal goals. The patient-centered approach allows for the social worker (or provider) to partner with veterans to achieve what matters most to them. The paradigm shift from the question of "what is the matter with you?" to "what matters to you?" will help veterans clarify their goals, gain access to programs and services to achieve their goals, and identify barriers (VA, 2016).

A component of PCC is the introduction of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM). According to Taylor and Elwy (2014), there is a growing library of research that demonstrates efficacy in the use of CAM and the reduction of symptoms associated with anxiety, PTSD, depression, and chronic pain – all common disorders among U.S. veterans. The recommended CAM modalities include acupuncture, massage therapy, yoga. and chiropractor (Taylor & Elwy, 2014; VA, 2016).

The barriers to implementation of CAM is due to the lack of research to evidence the effectiveness of alternative treatment modalities (Taylor & Elwy, 2014). A social worker can bridge the gap between PCC, CAM, and providers that are skeptical.

According to Craig and Muskat (2013), social workers are trained from an ecological

perspective and have an understanding that individuals' function within a much larger system.

Social workers can recognize complex issues and have a broader understanding of the person-in-environment concept that allows them to coordinate, communicate, and advocate more efficiently with an interdisciplinary team (Iannuzzi, Kopecky, Broader-Fingert & Connors, 2015). According to Iannuzzi et al. (2015), social workers have specialized training in the assessment of individual client needs and practicing from a person-in-environment approach; however, many social workers are underused by interdisciplinary teams and maximized only in discharge planning. Social workers, according to Hawk, Ricci, Huber, and Myers (2015), are noted with serving a critical role in the implementation of PCC due to their knowledge of expertise in the approach of person-in-environment.

The literature available for PCC is plentiful; however, the role that social work plays in the facilitation of PCC is limited. The research of Zuehlke et al. (2016) indicates the benefits of PCC and, therefore, the current study sought to focus on how social workers can facilitate PCC in personal practice and communication with an interdisciplinary team on an acute inpatient psychiatric unit. The practice of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit demonstrates patient and staff satisfaction, however, Zuehlke et al. (2016) suggests there is limited research available on the implementation of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit. Gachoud, Albert, Kuper, Stroud, and Reeves (2012) suggests that PCC, although widely promoted, the application creates challenges because of its vagueness. How PCC translates across disciplines and the lack of common

language contributes to the ambiguity of PCC between professional disciplines. The philosophy of Carl Rogers' patient-centeredness focused on a therapeutic relationship that emphasized empathy, genuineness, and unconditional positive regard for clients (Murphy, Duggan, & Joseph, 2013). While social workers align their practice with the philosophy of Carl Rogers, we could assume it that the foundation of social work is patient-centered (Murphy et al., 2013). The literature suggests that in an interdisciplinary team application of PCC, members' must know the physical and emotional work required for effective delivery (Elbourne & LeMay, 2012).

Role of Social Work Profession

The social work profession is a staple in working with the U.S. service members (Hoffler, Dekle, & Sheets, 2014). Social workers play a variety of different roles on an inpatient psychiatric unit, from case management, therapy, program management, and administrative positions; however, there are few social workers in positions of leadership, but rather, they maintain direct practice positions (Iannuzzi et al., 2015).

There is minimal research available on how social workers perceive their role in hospital social work (Craig & Muskat, 2013). However, with autonomy and empowerment being pivotal in the foundation of social work practice, this suggests that social workers are qualified candidates for leadership roles within the hospital (Zimmerman & Dabelko, 2007). Social workers in the role of educators for PCC can encourage team members to be mindful of their experiences when they were engaged in their treatment or experienced validation from their treatment team. Team members that

experience this mindfulness are more aware of this experience for the veteran client (Byrne, Happell, Welch, & Moxham, 2013).

Military Culture

In relationship to military culture, effective social work micro practice will provide education to an interdisciplinary team on the military culture and subcultures, military experiences, deployments, and comorbidities, as well as, knowledge of evidence-based treatments for combat-related disorders (Wooten, 2015). Cultural competency has focused on minorities and ethnicity. However, language, beliefs, and values distinguish the military and veteran culture (Strom et al., 2012). The military culture and dialogue are important to recognize and be mindful of in PCC. For example, when providing care to a veteran with 25 years of service and retired as an officer, the team may perceive that he/she is more directive and appears to be cranky or bossy. The veteran's military experience and rank of an officer mean that he/she is quite used to giving orders and expecting others to do as directed without reservation or question.

According to Burgo-Black, Brown, Boyce, and, Hunt (2016), providers practicing PCC should also be privy to the comorbidities associated with post-traumatic stress disorder, substance use disorder, persistent and chronic pain, and traumatic brain injury. It is also valuable to understand the impact that multiple deployments present, the risk factors associated with veteran suicide and consistent complaints of sleep disturbances. The stigma attached to mental health can be a barrier to a veteran's road to recovery (Smith, Hyman, Andres-Hyman, Ruiz, & Davidson, 2016). According to Smith et al.

(2016), to decrease the stigma attached to the veteran's mental health by providing empowerment, hope for the future, and finding purpose in life.

In 2012, the NASW developed practice standards for social workers that work with the veteran and military population (NASW, 2012). The NASW provides a structured framework for social workers as a guide to practice that includes having specialized training and education to matters relating to veterans, unique assessment skills, intervention and treatment planning techniques that complement the military culture and interdisciplinary leadership (Smith, 2016). Social workers with a personal military background or specialized training can educate the members of an interdisciplinary team on how culture impacts PCC.

Gaps in the Research

There is research indicating increased patient satisfaction when engaged in PCC (VA, 2016); however, on the local level, minimal research is available. The Affordable Care Act (ACA) encourages an integrated approach to healthcare (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2017); however, this approach has left primary care providers in the position of diagnosing, treating, and making treatment recommendations for individuals with mental illness (Jones et al., 2015). The research indicates that patients with a provider practicing PCC are more likely to receive referrals for individual therapy and pharmacological management than those without (Jones et al., 2015). Patient satisfaction and linkage to mental health services by way of outpatient services is well researched; however, there is little data discovered to support the outcomes of PCC with veteran clients on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The new initiative from the VHA's Office

of Patient-Centered Care and Cultural Transformation has defined some of the gaps in services as those that are complementary and alternative, such as acupuncture, massage therapy, yoga, and chiropractor services (VA, 2016). The new PCC approach puts the veteran in the driver's seat regarding the goals of treatment and to include those alternative modalities.

Summary

In this study, I explored the role that social work plays in PCC with an interdisciplinary team in an inpatient psychiatric unit. The participants are social workers that share in the treatment and discharge planning for the veteran clients, as well as communication with the treatment team on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The social workers participated by way of focus groups, sharing their perceptions of how social work can better facilitate PCC with an interdisciplinary treatment team. The focus groups considered communication gaps, and military and provider culture, in the treatment of mentally ill veterans. Data collected in the action research examined the influence of communication and culture on the interdisciplinary team approach to PCC. Data collected in this area, particularly specific to social work practice and the contribution of social work to a military-based interdisciplinary treatment team, will contribute to a relatively nascent body of practice knowledge.

The value of the current study is evidenced in an increased awareness of PCC and have an interdisciplinary treatment team to operationalize PCC as it applies to the inpatient psychiatric unit and each professional discipline. This study can also be used to

examine policy and leadership development for social workers and other disciplines that participate with an interdisciplinary team on a routine basis.

Research has identified that the practice of PCC plays a role in inpatient satisfaction with services and employee job satisfaction. The practice of PCC plays a role in the decrease of recidivism of acute admissions. However, there is minimal literature available on the impact that PCC when practiced on an inpatient psychiatric unit with veteran clients. Additionally, there are identified gaps in research regarding the role that social work plays in the implementation of PCC with an interdisciplinary team.

The literature is clear that PCC was developed from the recovery model; however, the review of the academic and professional literature suggests there is a barrier for social workers with the implementation of PCC and the veteran client's inpatient psychiatric interdisciplinary team. There is minimal literature available within the parameters of this study to explain the role of social work in PCC with an interdisciplinary team. Section two will include additional discussion regarding the research that was needed to examine the phenomenon of barriers and perceived roles of the interdisciplinary team members in the application of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit with veteran clients.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

In Section 1, I described the role that social work could play in the implementation of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit. I explained the hierarchical structure of an interdisciplinary team and the challenges that it brings. I identified the potential leadership role that social workers could assume in the facilitation of a patient-centered approach within an interdisciplinary team. The first section of the doctoral project also included a comprehensive literature review on the topic. The literature review indicated gaps in the application of PCC within an interdisciplinary team and a disconnect between team members with defining PCC. In the second section, I present the study's methodology, including the research design, recruitment and sampling strategy for selecting potential study participants, measurement tools, and the data collection protocol. Also presented are the ethical considerations for human subjects.

Research Design

Practice Problem

Membership on an interdisciplinary team on an inpatient psychiatric unit can be challenging. The definition of member roles is skewed and ambiguous, creating disconnection in the team, which results in difficulty in collaborative teamwork for the veteran clients (Barry et al., 2016). According to Farley (1994), there is team conflict when power distribution is not defined or understood by team members and when there are differences in professional opinions regarding practice approach and communication that remain unresolved.

One challenge for social work practice from a person-in-environment approach is that this is not always the attending psychiatrist's or additional team members' perspective on the veterans' presenting problem (Kerson & McCoyd, 2013). A further challenge is the interpretation of PCC across disciplines. However, there is an increase in team cohesiveness when a patient-centered approach is successfully implemented on an inpatient psychiatric unit (Rabenschlag et al., 2014).

Social workers are acknowledged for bringing the person-in-environment perspective to the interdisciplinary approach. The person-in-environment view can provide team members with an understanding of the influence of culture, family dynamics, diversity, and additional components of patient centeredness that will build cohesiveness with the team members (Lohmeier Law & Saunders, 2016). According to Peres (2016), social workers are trained to interact with individuals holistically from a strengths perspective and within the context of their environment.

Another identified challenge for social work practice is the communication between team members on an interdisciplinary team. Communication can improve when team members practice a patient-centered approach and focus on what is important to the veteran. Research indicated that improved treatment team communication is associated with positive treatment outcomes (Lind et al., 2013). The development of an interdisciplinary approach is an effort to provide a holistic approach to treatment and apply the basic tenets of PCC by supporting individual autonomy and empowerment (Craig et al., 2016). The paradigm shift from a medical model to a PCC approach will be difficult for team members who do not acknowledge that patients know enough about

their disease or disorder to make informed decisions to guide their treatment (Berghout et al., 2015). A clear definition of team roles and expectations improves communication with the veteran and team members (Grace et al., 2014). The interdisciplinary team represents various disciplines that have different experiences, values, and professional status, and improved communication will encourage team members to take on additional responsibilities and integrate new duties and build cohesiveness as a team and with the veteran (Grace et al., 2014).

Research Questions

In this action research study, I explored the role that social workers play in the implementation of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The research questions for this study were the following:

RQ1: What are the challenges facing clinical social work practitioners participating in interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment teams?

RQ2: What do clinical social work practitioners perceive would help them deliver more effective patient-centered care to veterans with mental health disorders?

Nature of the Study

According to Stringer (2007), action research is an approach to inquiry that allows for the systematic discovery of an efficient solution to the identified daily challenges experienced by individuals. The doctoral project was a participatory action research project as the participants and I worked together in the development of strategies to address identified issues. The social workers on an inpatient psychiatric unit with veterans can play an important leadership role in the facilitation of the holistic PCC

approach within an interdisciplinary team. The PCC approach places the veteran in the role of the decision-maker, and the focus of treatment is on what matters most to the veteran

The climate on an inpatient psychiatric unit is hierarchical with the psychiatrist influencing much of the treatment planning. The social workers involved in discharge planning perceive exclusion from treatment planning. According to Craig and Muskat (2013), there is scarce research available on how social workers perceive their role in hospital social work. The literature showed that social workers have specialized training in client assessment and knowledge of practicing from a person-in-environment approach, but research also showed that within an interdisciplinary team social workers do not maximize their social work skills. Social work skills are often used only in discharge planning (Iannuzzi et al., 2015).

Study Rationale

Globally, there is growing support for patient participation in treatment, thereby creating a higher demand for participatory research in communities by capitalizing on patient involvement (Case et al., 2014). Etingen, Miskevics, and Lavela (2016) suggested that improved patient compliance is linked with the practice of PCC and improves patient-provider communication. Etingen et al. also supported the holistic shared decision-making of the patient and provider with fewer inpatient hospitalizations, fewer emergency room visits, and increased preventative health care compliance.

The tenets of PCC include asking about and using what means the most to the veteran means being able to provide effective linkage to services. Through focus on what

matters most to the veteran, PCC means that treatment is likely tied to or supported by the veteran's personal beliefs, environmental support, culture, and values (VA, 2013). The concepts of PCC mirror the core values of social work practice. The NASW Code of Ethics (2008) stated that social workers are committed to respecting individuality, differences in culture, and the individual's right to make informed decisions. The NASW Code of Ethics also charged social workers with recognizing the value of human relationships as they relate to treatment. Social workers are ethically responsible for engaging clients as partners in the development of their treatment planning. The NASW Code of Ethics stated that social workers are to support the individual's right to self-determination regarding the identification and clarification of treatment goals.

From a mental health recovery perspective, PCC concepts for independent practice may not be perceived as conducive for acute inpatient practice (Radohl, 2016). According to Mio et al. (2017), there is limited research to support PCC with individuals with severe mental illness. Mio et al. indicated that psychiatrists show great reservation in shared decision-making with severely mentally ill patients. Although research supported superior outcomes in shared decision-making, providers exercise caution due to concerns about patient safety.

Little is known about the role that social work plays in the facilitation of PCC within an interdisciplinary team on an inpatient psychiatric unit. Action research methodology allowed participants in the current study to describe their experiences and perspectives of working on an inpatient psychiatric unit, while simultaneously offering solutions to professional challenges within the context of an interdisciplinary team.

Key Terms

Facilitator: An individual who assists in bringing about an outcome such as learning, productivity, or communication. Facilitators provide indirect, unobtrusive, and unbiased guidance and supervision.

Focus group: A small group of people whose response to a study is examined to determine whether the response can be expected from a larger population.

Inpatient psychiatric unit: A locked unit with 12 beds that is considered short-term (7-10 days) treatment. Veterans on the unit have experienced suicidal ideations or have made an active attempt at suicide. During admission, the veterans participate in morning treatment team meetings, group therapy, individual therapy, targeted case management, and goal-oriented discharge planning.

Interdisciplinary team: A diverse group of professionals (psychiatrists, physician's assistant, pharmacists, social workers, nurses) who work on a common goal in treatment planning for a veteran.

Patient-centered care: A whole health approach to help veterans guide their treatment and maintain good overall health (VA, 2013).

Shared decision-making: One of the key components of patient-centered care. Shared decision-making is the process in which a provider and patient work together to make decisions regarding treatment (VA, 2013).

Social worker: An individual who performs professional activities and applies methods that are focused on providing services to people who are economically,

physically, emotionally, or socially disadvantaged. Social workers advocate for social and economic justice and equality.

Methodology

Data Sources

I used qualitative methods with the use of focus groups to collect data. I selected focus groups as the most effective method to gain information about the practice of PCC with veterans on an inpatient psychiatric unit and their interdisciplinary team. According to Kitzinger (1995), focus groups are thought to generate the ability for discussion on sensitive topics by individuals with the most valuable insight and information.

The focus groups served to broaden understanding of how social workers perceive their role in the facilitation of PCC. The focus groups helped me identify barriers to successful implementation by an interdisciplinary team in using PCC to guide treatment. This doctoral project contributed to professional consistency in the delivery of patient-centered services on an inpatient psychiatric unit. Social workers should understand their role in an interdisciplinary team and the facilitation of PCC. However, at the time of the study there was limited empirical data available on how psychiatric social workers perceive their role with an interdisciplinary team regarding treatment planning driven by PCC. The resources were scarce regarding the perceptions of barriers that prevent social workers from assuming a leadership role within an interdisciplinary team in the facilitation of PCC.

According to Dilshad and Latif (2013), a focus group is a small group of individuals brought together to discuss their thoughts, feelings, and perceptions on a

specific topic. According to Gibbs (1997), focus groups are an organized discussion with individuals selected based on their expertise and experience where their opinions can make a significant impact. An identified benefit to focus groups is their ability to provide insight on a specific topic within a social context (Ritchie, Lewis, Nicholls, & Ormston, 2013). Focus groups are one of the most significant aspects of qualitative research. Kitzinger (1995) noted that focus groups maximize the ability for individuals to communicate in a manner that generates information about a specific topic.

A qualitative approach with focus groups was selected because it permitted a more in-depth discussion of the social worker's role within an interdisciplinary team and PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The qualitative approach with focus groups was cost-effective and provided essential data in a shorter period (see Ritchie et al., 2013). Focus groups also permitted the participants' voices to be heard regarding the perceived problem and stimulated collaboration between disciplines that will enhance the care of veterans with mental illness. The focus groups captured the participants' perceptions of social workers' roles within an interdisciplinary team and implementation of PCC.

The purpose of the doctoral project was to deepen the understanding of the challenges facing clinical social work practitioners participating in interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment teams. Findings may improve understanding of the role that clinical social work practitioners play in delivering more effective PCC to veterans with mental health disorders.

Participants

I recruited social workers from those who participate in treatment and discharge planning of veterans on an inpatient psychiatric unit. I sent an invitation in the form of a letter (see Appendix A) to the social workers' email accounts. In the letter, I requested voluntary participation in the doctoral project and provided a deadline to respond by telephone, email, or return mail. Nonprobability purposive sampling was used to recruit social workers for the focus groups. Purposive, or judgmental, sampling was selected because the members of the focus group needed to have specific experiences to provide a broader understanding of the topic, as well as their availability to participate in the study. Purposive sampling allowed me to identify patterns that are assumption free (see Palinkas et al., 2015).

Once I selected the study participants through purposive sampling, I mailed and emailed the demographic worksheet (Appendix B) and the informed consent form with a scheduled deadline for the return of the information through personal email or the U. S. Postal Service mail and included a self-addressed stamped envelope for convenience. I accepted up to the first 20 volunteers for inclusion in the study. The participants were provided with detailed information on the study's procedures, requirements, benefits, and risks. According to Morrow (2005), there are no parameters on the number of individuals for a focus group in a qualitative study, but data should continue to be collected until saturation is met or exceeded. I recommend that the ideal group size is between 8-10 members (Morrow, 2005). For this doctoral project, I used random assignment to place participants into two focus groups. A random assignment generator was used to make the

two focus groups as comparable as possible (Rubin & Babbie, 2016). If additional participants were needed, snowball sampling, a non-probability method, would have been utilized. Snowball sampling would require the engaged participants to identify other potential participants that may have been overlooked during the recruitment and meet inclusion criteria.

The inclusion criteria for participant selection is their clinical interaction with the treatment team in an inpatient psychiatric unit. Each participant is licensed through the state Board of Social Work Examiners as a licensed generalist social worker (LGSW), licensed certified social worker (LCSW), or licensed independent clinical social worker (LICSW). The areas of expertise that the sample bring is in Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF), Operation Iraqi Freedom(OIF), and Operation New Dawn (OND); housing urban and development (HUD) veteran assisted supportive housing (VASH); homelessness; residential treatment for mental health; PTSD; substance use; veteran's justice outreach (VJO); individual therapy, outpatient mental health case management, mental health intensive case management and suicide prevention. Additional inclusion criteria included interaction with an interdisciplinary team for a minimum of 1 year.

For convenience, a community based, I reserved a centrally located conference room. The centrally located conference room provided participants with privacy and allowed for an environment that was free from interruption and distractions. The focus groups were scheduled after the participants' scheduled work hours to ensure there was no disruption to the delivery of services to clients of participants. I allocated 2 hours for each focus group, and the time used was contingent upon the amount of dialogue, details

of responses, and reflection. According to Mason (2010), when no additional information is gained, we achieve saturation and can successfully identify a phenomenon of interest.

I asked the two groups the same questions (Appendix C); however, I asked additional questions to solicit or expand the dialogue to capture valuable data regarding the context of responses, thoughts, feelings, and emotions on the subject. An example of the questions asked includes, (1) How do you perceive your role providing PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit? (2) To what extent do you feel your skills as a social worker are maximized on an inpatient psychiatric unit as it relates to the tenets of PCC? Before the first scheduled focus group meeting, two colleagues who did not participate in the action research focus groups examined the questions. The field inquiry was to determine if the questions were clear, understandable, and relate to the topic. Additionally, the inquiry assessed the need for any changes in the questions or proposals for additional questions. The field examination aided in supporting validity and reliability and the type of items needed to successfully obtain the data required for the action research project.

Instrumentation

Focus Groups

I scheduled the focus group sessions to meet in a local community-based conference room. I allocated 2 hours for each focus group discussion. I used the same interview schedule for both foci groups. I facilitated all focus groups; there was also a research assistant taking notes on group members' verbal and non-verbal interaction with one another, as well as my behaviors during the qualitative data gathering process (e.g., head nodding, positive/negative gestures, laughter). A semi-structured qualitative

interview schedule was used to examine the focus group members challenges and barriers to the successful implementation of PCC with severely mentally ill veterans on an inpatient psychiatric unit, as well as their roles and challenges working in an interdisciplinary treatment team.

The community-based conference room had tables and chairs arranged in a horseshoe so that participants could easily see and communicate with one another. Upon arrival, I supplied each member with a numbered paddle; I also encouraged each member to announce their paddle number before their group participation. I also recorded the number on the top of the demographic and information worksheet (Appendix B). The paddle number allowed the primary investigator to connect information shared with the participant during the translation process. The focus group meetings were audio recorded; therefore, the recorder was placed on a table in the center of the horseshoe to ensure that all dialogue was recorded. The participants were provided with light refreshments and drinks at the focus group meetings to create a relaxed atmosphere for discussion. The focus group meeting included foundational group guidelines, as well as the interview process. The initial focus group process included:

- 1. An introduction of group members and a brief explanation of their association with an inpatient psychiatric unit and interdisciplinary team.
- 2. Explanation of the action research process.
- 3. Presentation of basic rules for the group.
- 4. Discussion of meeting dates, times, frequency, schedule flexibility of members and commitment to the doctoral project would require.

The focus of some of the questions (Appendix C) to facilitate discussion included:

- 1. How can social workers improve the application of PCC?
- 2. What role do social workers play in leadership with an interdisciplinary team?
- 3. What barriers do you encounter in the facilitation of PCC with an interdisciplinary team?

I designed the open-ended questions to allow the social workers in the focus groups to explore how they perceive their role and possible barriers in the use of PCC when working with an interdisciplinary team. The basic tenets of the ecological systems theory were used to guide the development of the focus group questions. The set of 10 questions (Appendix C) were designed in such a manner as to address the social workers perception of their role as individual clinicians, as a member of an interdisciplinary team and as a social worker on an inpatient psychiatric unit with veterans. I asked the participants to provide recommendations on how to improve social work practice with a veteran-based interdisciplinary treatment team and improve PCC with an interdisciplinary team.

Data Analysis

Hutchison, Johnson, and Breckon (2010) suggest that grounded theory can take the descriptive data from qualitative research and create an explanatory theoretical framework. According to Onwuegbuzie, Dickinson, Leech, and Zoran (2009), there is no specific framework that describes the types of qualitative analysis techniques that are used by researchers to examine the data collected from focus groups. Although, social science qualitative researchers are known to depend on the information collected in focus

groups because significant information can be received concurrently (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2009). According to Evans (2013), qualitative researchers have used a variety of grounding theory models but support the classic grounded theory in the analysis of data from focus groups.

I analyzed the data from the doctoral action research project using the tenets of the grounded theory. The first stage of grounded theory is open coding. The coding process began with a line-by-line comparison. This process helped in the identification of primary themes. Traditionally, researchers using focus groups will use the group as the unit of analysis, coding the data and identifying emergent themes that will increase the knowledge base and understanding of the examined phenomenon (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2009). Coding is a key component of the grounding theory and considered to be the first step in taking data from concrete to analytical stage (McLendon, 2014).

Onwuegbuzie et al. (2009) suggest analytical techniques that are more conducive to the analysis of focus group data include the techniques of constant comparison analysis, content analysis, or keywords. According to Onwuegbuzie et al. (2009), the continual comparison was first used in grounded theory and is the best suited for the analysis of the data from focus groups. The responses from the focus groups were compared within the group, by the level of interaction with an interdisciplinary team and perceived perception of social work's role in the facilitation of PCC. The constant comparison allows the assessment of emerging themes reflected in the data (Evans, 2013) and considers the phenomenon from many dimensions (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2009).

I compared anonymous samples of the verbatim transcriptions to the audio recordings for accuracy. The reading and re-reading of the transcripts of the collected data allowed for coding to emerge that was related to the core concerns and explained related behaviors regarding social workers perception of PCC with an interdisciplinary team. The frequency of phrases, sentences, and intensity across datasets was relevant to the doctoral project and provided information that is specific to the project questions and offer a description of the phenomenon. The frequency of phrases, sentences, and intensity were analyzed and coded. The research assistant and I transcribed all audio recorded focus group sessions, notes, and logs and identified any recurrent themes and patterns.

I coded and organized the data using the most recent version of computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software. Qualitative synthesis (grounding theory) is beneficial when there are large amounts of data, and the qualitative data analysis software can identify themes and subthemes (Houghton et al., 2017). The coding allowed the organization of a significant amount of text and identification of patterns in the data.

Methods to Address Rigor

Experimental research has established processes for examining the reliability and validity of the study. According to Stringer (2007), action research is predominately qualitative, and the criteria for examining reliability and validity are much different. Hays, Wood, Dahl, and Kirk-Jenkins (2016) state that rigor is simply the trustworthiness of a study. According to McLendon (2014), trustworthiness in a qualitative study lends to a respected level of credibility. In qualitative research, trustworthiness is operationalized by establishing credibility, dependability, transferability, and confirmability (McLendon,

2014; Stringer, 2007). The research of Amankwaa (2016) suggests that reliability and validity are not terms that can successfully explain the benefits of qualitative research. However, to establish the integrity of a qualitative study, the trustworthiness must be strengthened through credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Amankwaa, 2016).

For this doctoral action research project, I facilitated credibility through discussion with a neutral peer to help identify any fixed ideas or biases that I am conscious of and identify those that are unconscious. I also used the member-check technique to establish credibility by returning the collected data to participants to review for accuracy of the information and a clarify the meaning attached to their experiences (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016; Stringer, 2007), and revisiting information frequently (Connelly, 2016). According to Amankwaa (2016), member checking is considered a method of establishing validity and is viewed by many qualitative researchers as the most important and crucial step in establishing credibility. The doctoral project used member checking with the focus groups through the confirmation of the transcription of the interviews to check for accuracy and a true reflection of experiences with PCC with an interdisciplinary team.

I maintained a reflexive journal to secure dependability in the doctoral project. The journal is a narrative to explain the development of focus group questions, the selection of sampling, and identification of coding and establishment of group rules. At the end of the study, I completed an audit to review the final doctoral project and the reflexive journal.

Another aspect of trustworthiness is transferability, described as the extent to which the findings of the doctoral project can be useful to other individuals in similar settings and environments (Connelly, 2016). In other words, the information of the final project has the potential to share the lessons learned from one group with another (McLendon 2014). The results from the doctoral project may apply to other inpatient psychiatric units and residential treatment programs interdisciplinary teams in the application of PCC.

According to McLendon (2014), confirmability determines if I interpret the final doctoral project findings with logical goals and purpose and secure trustworthiness.

Confirmability is the degree to which the doctoral study information is consistent and demonstrates the ability to be replicated (McLendon, 2014).

Finally, authenticity contributes to the trustworthiness of the doctoral project. I find the authenticity of a project is the primary investigator's ability to portray with accuracy the range of different realities that represent the specific topic (Connelly, 2016). The advantage of authenticity in a qualitative approach is that it allows readers to ascribe a broader understanding and richer meaning to a phenomenon.

Ethical Procedures

I obtained approval for this doctoral project from the Institutional Review Board at Walden University (approval# 05-11-18-0538848). This doctoral study follows the NASW code of ethics and social work standards.

I used informed consent forms containing information about procedures, benefits, and risks of participating, an explanation how to obtain the results of the research,

availability of counseling services, voluntary participation, and my contact information. I included the goals of the doctoral project in the informed consent form. The signed informed consent forms were received by personal email or through postal mail before the start of the study. Study participants received a copy of the informed consent form. Those participating in the doctoral project have an understanding and signed an agreement that assures confidentiality and an understanding of situations where mandated reporting is necessary. I do not have any supervisory relationship with any of the participants. The relationship that I have with the participants did not influence their participation.

Before the discussion within the focus groups, the participants received information about the ethical principles of anonymity and confidentiality. Each member received a reminder that the discussion within the focus group is to stay within the group and discouraged sharing information discussed with anyone outside of the group. The participants received a reminder that they could leave the group at any time without fear of repercussion. I discouraged the group participants from discussing specific cases where PCC was used effectively or ineffectively with an interdisciplinary team. All veteran client information was kept confidential.

The focus of the discussions was on how PCC impacts social work practice and an inpatient psychiatric interdisciplinary team. Engagement in a discussion on the personal practice of interdisciplinary team members was discouraged. The discussion climate did not create an uncomfortable environment and demonstrated respect for all disciplines represented on an interdisciplinary team. From the beginning of the doctoral

project, participants understood that the focus is on perceptions of the role that social work plays with an interdisciplinary team in the application of PCC and is not an evaluation of skill or knowledge in the treatment of the veteran clients admitted to an inpatient psychiatric unit.

I may experience bias regarding the role that social work plays in the implementation of PCC with the veteran clients on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The PCC paradigm to treatment places the veteran in charge of their care. Often the veteran's choice for treatment is influenced by cultural, religious, or the environment. The role of an advocate by the social worker can provide a guide for the interdisciplinary team regarding PCC and in providing care that is sensitive to the veterans cultural, religious, and environmental needs.

For security purposes, all audio recordings, transcripts, and logs are in a locked cabinet at the primary investigators home and password-protected personal computer that is in the primary investigator's home office. The recorded information from this study was destroyed to protect the confidentiality of the participants.

Summary

For this doctoral project, I applied a qualitative approach using focus groups to gather data. The focus groups were comprised of 20 social workers with a history of interaction with an interdisciplinary team and employed in mental health for a minimum of 1 year. I collected data through audio recordings of the focus group meetings and logs maintained by the research assistant.

I asked all the focus group participants the self-designed open-ended questions. The data were analyzed using the tenets of grounded theory and coded to identify common themes and categories. I compared the codes for similarities in themes and subthemes, agreement and disagreement, and an assessment made of the social worker's perception of their role in PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit with an interdisciplinary team. I use the most recent version of NVivo to organize and manage the emerging codes. In section two of the doctoral project, I explored the perception that social work has in the facilitation of PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit with an interdisciplinary team. I also explored the social worker's perception of inclusion in an interdisciplinary team, provided an explanation of the research design and how it applied to the approach selected for this project. In this section, I also provided the rationale for how the doctoral project aligns with the tenets of the ecological systems theory. We discuss the methodology for data collection and operationally define key terms. In section two of the doctoral proposal, I described the recruitment of participants, sampling strategy, and sample size. I explained the techniques used to collect the data and the rationale of the selection of focus groups for the doctoral project. The second section included discussion regarding the method of analyzing the collected data. The discussion on basic tenets of grounded theory in data analysis and the rationale of how it aids in answering the doctoral project question. In this section, I also discussed the methods and strategies that were used to ensure that the doctoral project is ethical. The NASW Code of Ethics guided the procedures and analysis of the project. The most recent version of NVivo software for data analysis, organization and management are identified and discussed. I described the

analysis of data and the order that I will complete it. I also discussed the methods that were employed to address rigor to ensure the trustworthiness of the doctoral project.

In section three, I bridge the information from section two and provide an explanation and summary of the techniques used to analyze the data collected. The data collected provides insight into identified barriers and perceived roles of social work in PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The goal of the doctoral project is to enrich interdisciplinary team cohesiveness, the practice of PCC, and to ensure that treatment is patient driven.

Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

In this action research study, I sought to understand the role of social workers in the facilitation and implementation of PCC within an interdisciplinary team on an inpatient psychiatric unit focused on veteran treatment. The tenets of PCC focus on what matters most to the veteran as opposed to what the treatment providers perceive to be wrong. I hoped to gain a better understanding of the definition of PCC across disciplines and the perceived barriers that social workers face in the implementation of PCC within an interdisciplinary team. The research questions for this study were the following:

RQ1: What are the challenges facing clinical social work practitioners participating on interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment teams?

RQ2: What do clinical social work practitioners perceive would help them deliver more effective PCC to veterans with mental health disorders?

I collected the data for this study through the use of a demographic worksheet and the recorded dialogue and nonverbal cues of participants from two focus groups. The focus group interview questions focused on social workers' perceptions of their role in the facilitation of PCC within an interdisciplinary team, with a focus on veterans with mental illness. I identified prospective social workers public records from the state board of social work examiners. I then selected study participants based on their professional experience with PCC and working within an interdisciplinary team. The focus of this section is to describe how and when the data were collected, the recruitment process, and response rates during recruitment. In this section, I also explain the data analysis, validation, limitations, and barriers identified during the study.

Data Analysis Techniques

An action research design was selected including focus group interviews to gather information related to the research questions. The data collection came from two focus groups that included a total of 10 purposively selected social workers. I used purposive sampling in recruitment because of the importance of participants having experience with the veteran population, inpatient psychiatric treatment, and interaction within an interdisciplinary team. According to Palinkas et al. (2015), purposive sampling is useful in the identification of individuals who are knowledgeable or have specific experience with the phenomenon of interest. The state board of social work examiners was used to access the contact information of social workers who met the selection criteria. I obtained the social workers' contact information through an Freedom of Information Act submitted to the state board of social work examiners. The Freedom of Information Act allowed me to obtain the contact information for social workers who have experience with the veteran population in inpatient psychiatric treatment and knowledge of working within an interdisciplinary team. I mailed letters of invitation to 30 prospective social work participants through the U.S. Postal Service. I mailed the invitations to prospective study participants with a request for a response regarding participation within 2 weeks and a request for their email address for future correspondence.

I mailed participants who responded with interest in participation
the demographic worksheet and informed consent form that included an assigned focus
group number. The data on the demographic worksheet provided information on the
participants' experience to ensure equal distribution and representativeness among the

study sample group. The demographic sheet provided information regarding the number of years the participant had worked in mental health, level of licensure, area of specialization, and length of employment as a social worker. In the informed consent form, I provided the participants with information about the purpose, procedures, potential risks and benefits, and length of time the participants would be asked to commit. A self-addressed stamped envelope was included for the participants to return the informed consent form with a deadline of 1 week before the date of their assigned group.

From the 30 invitations mailed, 17 participants responded positively to participation in the action research study. However, only 10 participants responded to the mailed informed consent forms. Seven recruits responded regarding their inability to participate due to unexpected conflicts in availability and time commitment, which did not permit involvement. The recruitment resulted in 10 participants placed into two groups based on their experience and time availability. The participants worked as hospital social workers in veteran care, and all had work experience within an inpatient psychiatric interdisciplinary team. Based on experience, availability, and information collected from the demographic worksheet, each of the participants was assigned a number ranging from 1 to 10 and was assigned to a focus group. The dates were selected based on the convenience for group members. The second group had to be rescheduled two times to accommodate group members' schedules.

I conducted this action research study between October and December 2018. The first focus group consisted of six members, and the interview lasted 90 minutes. The second focus group consisted of four members, and the interview lasted 105 minutes. I

read a script at the start of each focus group that included information regarding the study, the purpose of the study, confidentiality, and the right to withdraw. The participants were asked to respond to the focus group questions using their assigned number to assist in confidentiality. The participants in both groups shared their perceptions of PCC, the role social work plays within an interdisciplinary team, and perceived barriers as related to the research questions.

I recorded the two group sessions using audio cassette and digital recording with an Apple voice memo application. I recorded all personal thoughts regarding the research process and the focus groups' nonverbal reactions in a reflexive journal. Each focus group was asked the same 10 questions (see Appendix C). Before the scheduling of the focus groups, I reviewed the research questions with two professional social workers who were familiar with the topic. The purpose of the field inquiry was to determine whether the questions were clear, understandable, and relevant to the topic. The inquiry was used to evaluate the need for changes in the questions or consideration of additional questions. During the focus group process, I recorded the initial responses to the 10 core questions. Also recorded were the responses to follow-up questions for clarification and to expand on information related to the core questions. The data analysis procedure used for this action research study included coding data and identifying themes according to the frequency of words and phrases. A grounded theory approach was used to examine and analyze empirical data. The information was also entered into NVivo 12 Pro qualitative data analysis software to assist in managing the collected data. Castleberry and Nolan (2018) recommended the following questions when identifying themes:

- 1. Is it a theme, or could it just be a code?
- 2. What is the quality of the theme? Does it provide useful information that is relative to the research questions?
- 3. What are the boundaries of the theme? What does it include and exclude?
- 4. Is there enough information to support the theme?
- 5. Is the data to broad or diverse? (p. 810)

The transcripts were uploaded to NVivo and coded based on the responses of the focus group participants to the interview questions. Once I coded the data, I extracted excerpts from the data to identify themes and subthemes. The identification of the themes and subthemes permitted me to capture and interpret the phenomenon across experiences, beliefs, and relationships of the focus group participants. To better understand qualitative coding, I placed specific information from the data into nodes in the NVivo software. The nodes were then analyzed and put into a larger group based on their similarities. Finally, I identified themes that addressed the research questions. I used thematic analysis to examine the view of each focus group participant by identifying similarities, differences, and creative vision related to the perceived problem. According to Castleberry and Nolen (2018), thematic analysis allows for flexibility in the translation of data while being mindful of transparency in this method to ensure the integrity of the findings. I analyzed the data for relationships between identified themes that described the phenomenon. An inductive approach was employed by taking specific data collected from the focus groups and moving the data into a general focus. The inductive thematic analysis demonstrated

how the raw data from the focus groups could be organized and developed into a means of identifying central themes to describe the phenomenon.

I used a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet to record the information collected from the demographic worksheets, including gender, race, licensure, length of employment, length of time working within an interdisciplinary team, area of specialization, and percentage of time working within the inpatient psychiatric unit. This information provided a reference point in the identification of commonalities and differences within the focus group participants.

Validation Procedures

Purposive recruitment yielded a small sample size accentuating the potential for personal values and influence. A small sample size requires the maintenance of credibility and rigor (Anney, 2015). The methods that I chose to ensure the credibility and rigor of this action research study included an audit trail, field testing, and member checking.

The intention of the face-to-face focus groups was to generate open dialogue regarding shared experiences; to make comparisons about participants' views, opinions, and experiences; and to explore resolutions to the perceived phenomenon. The focus groups were a platform for social workers to respond to the interview questions without influence and in their own words. Although I was professionally familiar with the participants, I did not feel that my presence skewed the responses.

Audit Trail

I used a validation procedure of an audit trail to keepf a chronological record from the beginning of this study through the results. The audit trail enables readers to assess and determine whether the results of the study provide a platform for future inquiry (Carcary, 2009; Lauman, 2018). An audit trail encouraged me to keep meticulous research notes, examine my critical thinking, and reflect on decisions made, which created an increased level of research transparency (see Carcary, 2009; Lauman, 2018). The audit trail assisted me in reflecting on how my thoughts regarding the research evolved throughout the study (see Carcary, 2009; Lauman, 2018).

Field Testing

Before the first scheduled focus groups, I asked two social workers with previous experience within interdisciplinary teams to review the focus group questions (see Appendix C). The purpose of the field testing was to ensure that the questions were clearly written, easily understood, and related to the research questions. The field testing also permitted changes to be made before the first scheduled focus group. The field testing resulted in no indicated changes in the wording of any of the questions for the focus group data collection (see Sofaer, 1999).

Member Checking

Member checking was used to ensure the accuracy and validity of the focus group data (see Anney, 2015). I transcribed the audio recordings and listened to the recordings while reading along and making changes for accuracy. Member checking is considered to be the heart of qualitative research and ensures any biases of the researcher are removed

(Anney, 2015). The transcript of each focus group was emailed to the respective participants to review for accuracy. Six of the participants responded to the request to review the transcription. There were four from Focus Group 1 and two from Focus Group 2. They did not have any revision recommendations. Four of the study participants did not respond to the review/revision email. After 7 days, with no response regarding any revision or changes, I emailed the final transcript to the 10 focus group participants.

Limitations

The primary limitation of this action research study was the sample size. I recruited from one hospital with an interdisciplinary psychiatric team that focuses on veteran care. The sample size may have been more expansive had recruitment included additional hospitals with veteran inpatient psychiatric interdisciplinary teams. Another identified limitation was the participants' articulation in the responsive dialogue to the interview questions. Some of the participants were difficult to understand on both recordings. There were only three men who participated, so male social workers' perceptions of the phenomenon were underrepresented in the sample.

Another limitation noted was in the amount of planning and preparation of the focus groups. I discovered that the initial date for the focus groups would not accommodate most of the participants. Finding an accommodating date for most to participate slowed the pace of the research and was a limitation. It was challenging to identify specific dates and times that participants could attend. This challenge is primarily due to collateral duties at the candidates' workplace and after-hour obligations with family or organizational commitments.

Another identified limitation in the trustworthiness and rigor of this study included the possibility of me having preconceived ideas regarding the phenomenon based on personal experience and literature review. However, the reflexive journal proved beneficial in mitigating researcher biases. These identified limitations may impact the generalizability and transferability of the findings.

Findings

The purpose of this action research study was to identify the role that social workers play in psychiatric PCC with veterans and identify any barriers they perceive in the implementation of PCC with an interdisciplinary team. The emerging themes and subthemes from the participant's responses included education, advocacy, devalued, teamwork, communication, and time.

Descriptive Characteristics

All of the participants completed the demographic worksheet for this action research. The sample consisted of 3 men and seven women, seven women are Caucasian, two males are Caucasian, and one male is African American. The full sample reported having a masters degree in social work; two participants reported having an MSW for 1-5 years; two participants completed their MSW 6-10 years ago; three reported completion of their MSW 11-15 years ago, and three obtained their MSW 20 or more years ago. The full sample is licensed, and four are licensed generalist social workers (LGSW), five are licensed independent clinical social workers (LICSW); one is a licensed, certified social worker (LCSW). The median age of the sample is 43.45 years. The sample spends an average of 10.1 years in hospital social work and 14.2 years, specifically working with

mental health patients. They also have 11.9 years of experience working with an interdisciplinary team. The sample spends an average of 14% of their time working with patients on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The area's of specialization noted by the participants include residential treatment, substance abuse, homelessness, transitional care, and suicide prevention.

Common Themes

The purpose of this action research is to contribute to the change in the perceived barriers in PCC treatment, discharge, and safety planning as identified by social workers on an interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team working with veterans. Through the analysis of the focus group data, some results emerged concerning the two research questions. I asked the 10 participants the same ten open-ended questions, and I used probing questions to solicit additional information on the questions when needed. The questions were developed to be answered by social workers based on their thoughts and perceptions as a member of the interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team and also with consideration of the impact on social work practice. The focus group dialogue revealed themes related to the research questions and perceived phenomenon.

Challenges for Social Workers on Psychiatric Interdisciplinary Teams Theme 1: Perception of Being a Devalued Member of the Team

The focus group members discussed the challenges they face working with an interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team (research question 1) as not being a valued member of the team and their clinical skills not being maximized. When considering the challenges that clinical social work practitioners face in participating in the

interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team, the emerging themes included the perception that social workers are not valued members of the interdisciplinary treatment team. The focus group member P8 comments: "I often feel that some of the members on the interdisciplinary team do not value the perspective of the social worker, and do not fully understand the breadth of our role."

In the discussion, focus group member P5 shared that often in the interdisciplinary team meetings, it is "their way or no way," which is a barrier in the implementation of PCC. This idea was supported by group member P1 who shared that when working on the inpatient psychiatric unit:

I didn't feel that same sense of respect there. I felt like the focus was on transportation and discharge planning, and my perspective of the whole veteran biopsychosocial, that's not at all what they looked at me for . . . they just wanted me to coordinate transportation for that veteran and schedule follow up appointments with providers, which I'm sorry, but a clerk could do that. It doesn't take somebody with an independent clinical license to do that. I don't know if it's because they're coming from the medical aspect versus social work, the medical model versus the whole person, the biopsychosocial person makes a difference in how I interacted with people on that team.

Other members of the focus group concur that often they're excluded in the dialogue regarding the veterans treatment, safety, or discharge planning but perceive their role as the social worker is to receive instruction on what needs doing from the members

of the psychiatric interdisciplinary team members. P2 expressed this concern during the focus group discussion:

I would appreciate being able to speak with the veterans and come up with a plan versus being advised by the PA "you need to do this" and the doctor going "you need to do that" and then the nurse saying, "we need you to do that." I think that we're all professionals and can formulate a plan without the medical professionals telling us (social workers) how to formulate it, and that opens up patient-centered care itself if you get to sit down with the person and discuss the plan and create it.

The members of the focus group agreed that social work was a "catch-all" and not viewed as a valid contributor to the team or possessing an area of expertise. P7 shared feeling disjointed from the team:

I am a member of all these smaller treatment teams, but I do not have a larger team, nor do I have a team of my own. I feel disjointed . . . I feel like I am providing support for others, but I am a one-man show for the most part.

A sub-theme of the social worker's perception of their skills, not being maximized with the interdisciplinary team also emerged. Focus group member P6 shared:

The doctor may be the team leader and making the formal diagnosis, but I consider myself kind of like the ringmaster in terms of bringing it all together, explaining programs, making referrals, group facilitation, working with the patients one on one ...providing counseling, linkage, and referral. I find the team does not maximize my clinical skills and will ask me to contact a mental health provider with the same credentials to provide services that I can provide.

Much of the focus of the social work profession is in making connections between people. The focus group members shared the need and desire for inclusion with the interdisciplinary team. I associate the research of Slana et al. with the differences in the values and theoretical perspectives of the different team disciplines. Focus group member P9 shares:

I do not feel like a team member at all. I just feel like I'm there to catch whatever they throw at me. They ask me to set up travel, make appointments, or find the patient some clothes. They want me to do it quickly, without any push back or questions and on their time schedule. I do not feel important to patient care.

The focus group members agreed that having a strong network of social workers in the work environment helps to deflect feelings of non-inclusion and interdisciplinary team tension. P1 states:

It helps that we have one another to lean on, ask questions, and get support. There have been times that my social work team has been there for me to process what is going on with the interdisciplinary team and the communication ...helped me to think outside of the box and maintain PCC and respond ethically to my interdisciplinary team.

A second theme emerged around communication within and between members of the interdisciplinary team.

Theme 2: Communication

The focus group members contributed to the discussion regarding the need for improved communication. Focus group member P2 shared concerns of not feeling heard

when sharing collateral information that could impact treatment, safety, and discharge planning:

I not only work with the interdisciplinary team but the families. I may gain information that I feel is relevant to the case but find it difficult to express that information in the treatment team rounds. I feel like I need to change my approach to PCC based on whether I am working with a medical, mental health, or residential team.

P1 shared, "There are times when I have what I consider to be valuable information or alternative options that may be non-traditional. I feel they are not heard by the team and are rejected without input from the veteran."

The focus group members discussed the tone of the communication that is in an interdisciplinary team meeting and how it impacts PCC. Focus group member P5 discussed:

When the input from social work is devalued, and it causes a lot of unnecessary... a lot of arguments, a lot of frustration, a lot of tension which diverts the attention away from what is most important to the veteran . . . communication breaks down. The team should be focused on the veteran . . . the team meetings are not about over-inflated egos; they are about what is most important to the veteran and their treatment.

The group members shared concern for better communication for safety for veterans preparing to discharge. Focus group member P2 shared:

I may have collateral information and history with the veteran and know that he is not at baseline. Although the team has oriented the veteran and feel they are discharge ready, I do not feel as though social work has communicated well with the team or the information validated by the team. While I support the veteran has the right to self-determination, they also have the right to stabilization as well, and that needs to be better communicated within the team and the veteran.

Communication is pivotal in treatment, safety, and discharge planning. Focus group participant P9 shares:

It is so important that team members communicate with one another to avoid miscommunication. A veteran may be speaking one thing to the homeless team members and something different to other team members. This triangulation and cross talk can impact the delivery of PCC. Without good communication, team members can get in the way of one another, and this will impact PCC delivery as well.

P7 points out the value of communication in the implementation of PCC:

The role of social work is to act as a guide and helping the veteran get to where they want to be. Social workers are responsible for communicating their specific responsibilities within the team. If the social worker is working harder than the veteran, there is a problem with the treatment.

Perceptions of being devalued and issues of communication emerged as themes in direct relation to the study's first research question: Challenges to social workers on a

psychiatric interdisciplinary treatment team. The following section will reveal the themes that emerged and are related to the second research question.

How to Deliver Patient-Centered Care More Effectively

Theme 1: Education

The second research question focused on how to deliver PCC more effectively. The group's members were able to identify the need for social workers to provide better education to the interdisciplinary team on social work scope of practice and PCC. While other members of the focus groups echoed the sentiment of feeling devalued and the need for better communication, they also identified the need for social workers to be better educators to the team members regarding the role that social work plays. Two of the social workers in the group expressed feeling devalued by the interdisciplinary team; however, they also share that the team maximized social work skills after providing education focused on social work practice.

One member of the focus group (P5) shared that social work must educate the interdisciplinary team on tenets of PCC and "bring the focus back to the patient as a person and as a human." The focus group members collectively agreed that social workers could improve on providing education on the scope of social work practice, as well as, acting as the conduit for the team to focus on what is important to the veteran.

Members of the focus groups agreed that there is minimal academically to prepare social workers in the ways of interdisciplinary teamwork and delivery of effective PCC. The research of Jones and Phillips (2016) suggests that training in the skills and values needed for true interdisciplinary collaboration begin at the academic level and would

pave the path for professionals to learn the values and skills needed by various disciplines for effective teamwork.

The group members identified an educational aspect that social workers are the education gateway for alternative options for treatment. During the discussion, P1 shared that alternative treatment modalities such as acupuncture, yoga, and tai chi are areas that social work can provide education on PCC to the patient and also the interdisciplinary team. The members of the focus groups supported that improved education would bridge the gap regarding their perception of being devalued, not working to their potential, and enhanced communication.

Theme 2: Advocacy

The focus group members' responses indicated a theme of advocacy such as needing to intervene for social workers, assessing the need for social workers to intervene with the team regarding PCC, upholding the social worker's ethical standards, the need for improved communication, and the ability to practice from an eclectic framework.

Focus group member P1 responded about practicing from an eclectic framework stating the social workers can "give a deeper and richer perspective of what is going on in the patient's life." Group member P3 makes this point:

Social workers should be the first line of defense with the interdisciplinary team. Social workers have the ability to draw from so many resources and have diverse training, we are so eclectic, and we're supposed to be like that, and that is what makes our field so unique.

Focus group member P2 emphasized the benefits of social work, keeping the interdisciplinary team focused on what matters most to the veteran and viewing social workers as pivotal in advocacy of PCC with the team. Focus group member P6 states that "it is important that we (i.e., social workers) provide education to the patients on how to properly advocate for themselves as well and watching them grow from that." This discussion was following by a statement by P1: "social workers need to educate not only the interdisciplinary team but the patients on what they can expect from patient-centered care and what it means to them and that they are a pivotal member of the team." P8 shares that all members on the treatment team have the same responsibility in the delivery of PCC and states:

It is the ethical responsibility of the social worker on the treatment team to bringing the team attention back to the veteran and what is important to him. It is easy to maintain professional respect and simply suggest that the ideas shared are good but ask what the veterans' thoughts are on them and ask for his contribution. This pulls the team focus back onto the veteran and empowers the veteran to take back control of his treatment.

The focus group participants supported the need to advocate for the basic tenets of PCC in treatment, safety, and discharge planning. The participants discussed the diversity of the interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team in the context of medical model versus the recovery model and how each discipline defines PCC.

Unexpected Findings

This action research study had some unexpected findings. One of the unexpected findings is related to the differences in the views of perceived value to the interdisciplinary team reported between the LGSW's versus the LICSW's that participated in the focus groups. The LICSW's perceived the higher value to the team than the perceptions of the LGSW's in the focus groups. All members of the focus groups expressed challenges related to communication and education that focused on time management. The group members shared the possible difficulty in finding time in their schedules and collateral duties to provide education to the interdisciplinary team; however, they agreed that improved communication is an avenue for delivering education.

Summary

The two research questions for this qualitative action research project asked what challenges clinical social workers face working with a psychiatric interdisciplinary team and what would help social workers to deliver PCC more effectively? I used social workers with experience working with a psychiatric interdisciplinary team for this study. They were able to share their experiences as it relates to the challenges faced and the facilitation of PCC with the interdisciplinary team. The findings from the study identified problems such as perceived devalued roles for social work and inability to work to their potential within the scope of their licensure and practice. The study findings resulted in the identification of communication barriers that prevent social workers from participating as active members on the interdisciplinary team. The findings also indicate

the need for education and advocacy for more effective delivery of PCC and social work inclusion in interdisciplinary team meetings.

An improved insight of social workers perception of PCC with an interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team resulted from the findings of this action research study. The data analysis, which included word frequency and coding, was organized in a qualitative data analysis software to identify emerging themes as they relate to the research questions. Validation procedures such as the use of audit trail, field testing, and member checking were used to add validity to the study. There were identified limitations in the study, including small sample size, the use of only one hospital, and difficulty with transcription due to technical challenges. The limitations may impact the generalizability and transferability of the findings of this action research study. The focus group participants' dialogue gave insight into social workers' perception of PCC with an interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team and valuable insight on avenues to close the gaps. The focus group members worked collaboratively in the discovery of beliefs, values, and attitudes that have shaped their perceptions related to the research questions.

The data for the action research was collected from two focus group meetings and included demographic information, the verbal and non-verbal cues from the participants. The participants were strategically recruited based on their experience working with an interdisciplinary team in an inpatient psychiatric unit. Contributing factors to the validity of this action research include participant selection, data collection, and analysis with the use of NVivo, data storage, confidentiality, and dissemination of the results. I applied the

NASW standards for ethical practice to this action research. I remained cognizant throughout the study in the maintenance of participant confidentiality and took the necessary steps to avoid harm.

There are positive outcomes from this action research study that will impact the field of social work and PCC with interdisciplinary teams. The group members were engaged in the focus group dialogue and generated valid ideas for change and improvement regarding education, communication, and advocacy. The participants in the focus groups identified that the information from their participation could be positively used in professional practice, as well as, providing the groundwork for social change regarding the practice of PCC with an interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

This qualitative action research study was conducted to examine perceptions of the role that social workers play in the implementation of PCC within an interdisciplinary team working with veterans with severe mental illness. I conducted the study to gain an increased understanding of the perceived barriers to the practice of PCC by the interdisciplinary team and how social workers can create change in the current practice. The Veterans Healthcare Administration (VHA) launched a new PCC paradigm that focuses on personalized care for veterans that is more proactive than reactive and puts the veteran in charge of the decisions made by their treatment team. The VHA focused the new approach to PCC on what matters most to the veteran as opposed to what is the matter with the veteran. This qualitative action research study addressed the paradigm shift in treatment from a medical model to PCC and the perceived role that social workers play in the introduction to the values and practices of professional social work that are consistent with this new and emerging treatment model.

This section presents recommendations for change and action steps for social workers who work within interdisciplinary teams. I also share how the findings of this study impact my practice, as well as limitations and implications for transferability. Last, I present recommendations for future studies.

Key Findings

The key findings in this study included the augmentation of communication and education for interdisciplinary psychiatric team members. The participants in the focus groups identified gaps in communication regarding other interdisciplinary team members

not being fully aware of the scope of social work practice. In focus group dialogue, social workers reported being devalued members of the team. The themes that emerged from this qualitative study reflected the experiences that social workers have with PCC and interdisciplinary teams. Many of the group members confirmed that the definition of PCC across disciplines varies and creates a barrier for social work facilitation of PCC within the interdisciplinary team. Each member of the interdisciplinary team is focused on and practicing PCC from their area of expertise. The focus group members reported that this creates a disconnect between the team members, creating an approach that is not patient centered or holistic. The findings provide a unique and valuable perspective based on social work practitioners experiences and recommendations for changes that can inform the work of other social work professionals. The participants from the focus groups were hopeful that the data collected would be used to create an environment for change for social work practitioners working within an interdisciplinary team.

The focus group participants described their experiences on the inpatient psychiatric unit as less than clinical and leaning more toward clerical; at times, social workers did not find their role as collaborative and the team not as focused on what matters most to the veterans. The participants shared their perceptions of not being valued members of the interdisciplinary team and gaps in communication between team members. The group members reported that social work practitioners' need to advocate for themselves and provide education to other team members regarding the scope of social work practice and the tenets of PCC. The focus group discussions revealed the challenges related to social workers' perceptions of not being valued members of the

team. The focus group members shared their desire to be more included among the interdisciplinary team and stronger advocates for PCC and the social work discipline. The group members were successful in identifying solutions to the perceived problem.

Contribution to Knowledge

The findings of this study contribute to the body of knowledge regarding the role of social workers in PCC within an interdisciplinary team, the perceived barriers to social workers' inclusion, and maximizing social workers' skills. The focus group participants shared their perceptions of social work participation on the interdisciplinary team, obstacles that prevent them from being actively included in PCC, and development of solutions to the phenomenon. The participants in the groups reported feeling devalued as members of the team, not working to the optimal scope of their practice, challenges with communication, and the need for education for team members regarding social work practice. Also, participants reported the need for social workers to advocate for their profession within the interdisciplinary team. The consensus of the participants was that social workers play a pivotal leadership role in guiding the interdisciplinary team in PCC and have ownership in increasing communication and advocacy for their profession.

Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice

The NASW (2008) supported PCC as it aligns with the principles of the social work profession (Whitaker, 2014) in the context of the right to client self-determination, dignity, self-worth, and social justice. A principle from the NASW Code of Ethics related to this social work problem is the value of understanding the importance of human relationships (NASW, 2017). This principle applies to this study as it is important for the

interdisciplinary team to be cohesive; social workers are also accountable for fostering a healthy work environment and treatment team experience through the understanding of human relationships. The NASW Code of Ethics 2.01 is applicable in this study as it is concerned with ethical responsibilities to colleagues (NASW, 2017). Social workers are responsible for maintaining respect for colleagues and presenting the needs of their clients to other professions respectfully and professionally. Although social workers may perceive that they are not valued members of the interdisciplinary team, social workers have an ethical responsibility to continue to foster respectful communication with all members of the team. The NASW Code of Ethics 2.03 is clear regarding the role of the social worker in interdisciplinary collaboration. The social worker is responsible for participation in the interdisciplinary collaboration regarding any decisions that will impact the well-being of a client and maintenance of ethical standards for the team. The NASW Code of Ethics 3.09 states that social workers should adhere to the policies of their employers; however, the code is clear that social workers are also obligated to assist in the improvement of policies and procedures that impact the efficacy of services at the agency. The NASW Code of Ethics 3.09 tasks social workers with taking the necessary steps to make employers aware of social workers' obligations as outlined by the NASW and consequences for violation of ethical responsibilities. The NASW Code of Ethics 4.01 addresses competency in practice. The social worker on the interdisciplinary team should be well versed and able to recognize the tenets of PCC and facilitate those tenets within the team. According to the NASW (2017), social workers should strive for proficiency in personal practice and performance of professional duties. The NASW

Code of Ethics 5.01 states that social workers have a responsibility to provide professional expertise to activities that promote integrity and competence for the social work profession (NASW, 2017). Social workers on an interdisciplinary team have an ethical responsibility to provide education to the team members regarding the scope of social work practice, including how the tenets of PCC align with the NASW Code of Ethics

The NASW ethical principles reflect the unpinning of PCC. A social worker's primary goal is assisting people who are in need and address social problems. In PCC, the focus is on what matters most to the veteran and assisting the veteran in reaching that goal. PCC demonstrates the ethical principle of respecting the dignity and worth of the individual. The purpose of PCC is to concentrate on what the veteran's perception of the problem is and on their ideas regarding solutions. The practice of PCC includes respecting the veteran's right to self-determination by allowing them to guide their treatment and play an active role with their treatment team. Also, the NASW ethical principle of the value of human relationships is evident in the practice of PCC. The partnership between the veteran and the treatment team is an important vehicle in setting achievable goals and the veteran being actively engaged in the treatment plan.

Recommended Solutions

Action Step 1

The recommendations provided by the focus group members included a process of checking in at the start of the day and checking out at the end of the day with team members. Focus group members felt this would improve communication between team

members. This process is in the form of a working email to the interdisciplinary team to allow each member to add to the daily report. The members of the focus group thought this would not only increase communication but also would provide an educational tool for interdisciplinary team members regarding the scope of social work practice.

Action Step 2

The focus group members also recommended a change in the process of interdisciplinary team meetings. Focus group members described the interdisciplinary team meeting consisting of a report given to the team by nurses with no contribution from any of the other disciplines represented in the meeting. The focus group members recommend that interdisciplinary team meetings include each discipline in the contribution of information regarding the veteran's treatment, safety, and discharge planning. The treatment plan should also be discussed with the veteran present and focused on what matters most to the veteran. This recommendation suggests a more inclusive approach for social workers and the ability to advocate for and provide education on PCC as it relates to the veteran's treatment.

Action Step 3

Focus group members supported continued advocacy for social workers and the need to continually assess the need for education or gaps in communication. Finally, the group members suggested dissemination of PCC tenets to the interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment team and a guideline for treatment, discharge, and safety planning. The focus group members concurred that all disciplines involved in the veteran's care should practice PCC; however, the definition of PCC varies across disciplines. Members of the

focus groups shared that some disciplines define PCC from a medical model and others from a recovery model; therefore, differences in defining PCC create a barrier for social workers to provide effective PCC education.

Impact on Personal Practice

The results from this study validate the concerns of social workers related to the hierarchical structure of interdisciplinary teams resulting in social workers feeling devalued as members of the team. This study also validated the need for better team communication, education, and social workers' advocacy for their profession. The results may empower social workers to be better communicators, provide education on the scope of social work practice, and advocate for the profession. The study facilitated recommendations for solutions to the perceived problem. The recommendations may improve the ability of social workers to be valued members of the interdisciplinary team and may enhance the practice of PCC across disciplines. Additionally, this qualitative action research study may provide social workers with the confidence needed to maximize their clinical skills in interdisciplinary team meetings.

The suggested recommendations apply to my daily routine within an interdisciplinary team. As a social worker, I am trained and skilled in the area of diversity and human behavior in the social environment and can apply these skills when serving the veteran population. One of the recommended action steps highlights the need for improved communication. The recommendation of communication is something that I can facilitate within my team, and I can see how this action would aid in increasing communication within the team. The facilitation of the action step would allow social

workers to take a leadership role in the communication facilitation and aid in building cohesiveness within the team. This study allowed me to reflect on my practice and the actions that I can take regarding communication, education, and advocacy to be a better team member.

Recommendations for Additional Research

Team Communication

There is transferability in the findings of this qualitative action research study to the field of clinical social work. If social workers can provide education on the breadth of social work practice and be the facilitators of communication and PCC across disciplines, they will gain improved competence and feel more valued as members of their team. The social worker participants in the current study identified perceived barriers for their profession; improving communication within the team and creating team cohesiveness may lead to improved PCC across the disciplines represented in the team. Social workers taking the role of leadership in the area of communication can benefit the field of social work as a whole. Social workers can provide training for other social workers regarding communication and education when working on an interdisciplinary team.

Civilian Interdisciplinary Teams

Future researchers may benefit from this action research study. Researchers may focus on additional inpatient psychiatric units beyond this demographic group.

Additionally, researchers may explore social workers and interdisciplinary teams that do not focus exclusively on the veteran population. Continued research on this topic may

provide more generalized information and a greater understanding of the role of social workers on an interdisciplinary team.

Recruitment

A recommendation for future study would be to broaden recruitment and obtain a more extensive and more diverse study sample. Future studies should focus on an online option for participation, such as Adobe Connect or Skype. Recruitment for this action research study was limited. However, future study recommendations include broader recruitment and include advertising through social media outlets and professional organizations such as the state social work board or local NASW chapter.

Policy Change and Research

Additionally, there is the potential for additional change in policy and research. Social workers can advocate for policy changes in how interdisciplinary teams' function. Through applying personal experiences to barriers, social work can play a pivotal role in the development of standard operating procedures for interdisciplinary teams and ensure the policy aligns with the basic tenets of PCC. The topic of this study would benefit from additional research to include interdisciplinary teams on inpatient psychiatric units not specific to the veteran population.

Limitations

External Validity

There are limitations to this qualitative action research study. The first is the small sample size. The male population of social workers is under-represented. Additionally,

the social workers recruited worked exclusively with a veteran population. The sample did not include social workers in civilian inpatient units with civilian patients.

Trustworthiness and Rigor

According to Krefting (1991), one concern with the trustworthiness in qualitative studies is the risk of the researcher becoming enmeshed with the participants, therefore, making it difficult to separate personal experience and interpret the study findings. For this reason, I utilized peer discussion with colleagues who participate with the interdisciplinary team but were not members of the focus groups. The peer discussion assisted in the identification of biases and any preconceived ideologies. This discussion also helped identify any fixed ideas that I am conscious of and identify those that are unconscious. According to McLendon (2014), trustworthiness in a qualitative study lends to a respected level of credibility. In qualitative research, trustworthiness is operationalized by establishing credibility, dependability, transferability, and confirmability (McLendon, 2014; Stringer, 2007). The study of Amankwaa (2016) suggests that reliability and validity are not terms that can successfully explain the benefits of qualitative research. However, to establish the integrity of a qualitative study, the trustworthiness must be strengthened through credibility, transferability, and confirmability (Amankwaa, 2016).

Credibility. Member checking was used to ensure the credibility of this qualitative action research project. Focus group participants provided feedback on the focus group transcripts to ensure that it effectively represents their thoughts on the perceived problem.

Transferability. To promote transferability, the digital recordings from the focus groups were secured, as well as all documentation and journal entries about this qualitative action research. The journal provides step-by-step procedures and a detailed description of this qualitative action research the purpose of ease in replication.

Transferability, or the extent to which research findings can be useful to other individuals in similar setting and environments, is questionable. The focus group members drew answers to the focus group questions based on their experience with the veteran population and working with an interdisciplinary team that focuses on veteran care.

Confirmability. Confirmability within this qualitative action research is to examine the degree to which the doctoral study information is consistent and demonstrates the ability to be replicated (McLendon, 2014). The findings of this study echo the information gathered in the literature review on this topic. Therefore, there is an easy replication of the study with an interdisciplinary team with a focus on veteran care. I find the authenticity of this study in the broader understanding and richer meaning to the phenomenon. To safeguard confirmability, I used an audit trail and documented the step-by-step process of this qualitative action research project. The journal entries include information regarding research approval, recruitment, focus group dates, and locations.

Strengths of the Study

An identified strength of the study is in the engagement of the focus group participants. All of the participants were actively engaged and participated fully in answering the focus group questions. The focus group was scheduled away from the workplace, and participants felt comfortable to voice their opinions and empowered by

the shared concerns of others in the group. The group's members felt at ease to recommend avenues for change to improve their perceives barriers. Finally, the participants were appreciative to be invited to participate and found the focus group platform was beneficial and would like to participate in similar discussions in the future.

Recommendations for future research related to this study's strengths and limitations would include using a larger and more diverse sample size. Also, employing researchers who may not have any professional connection or experience with the study participants may mitigate issues of researcher bias and expectancies. This qualitative action research suggests that interdisciplinary teams can experience efficacy in treatment planning and delivery of PCC with improved communication between team members. There remains the question in defining PCC across disciplines. However, future studies can focus on how team leadership influences the delivery of PCC and the importance of a universal definition for reference.

Dissemination

An avenue for dissemination of the results from this qualitative action research study is through the NASW. The information collected through the study can be presented at the NASW conferences locally and nationally. I can share the results of this study with the state board of social work examiners. Their state government appoints many of the social work boards, and this provides a beneficial outlet for change in policies that affect social work practice. Additionally, this information can be published in a social work journal, professional publication, and submitted to entities that publish information related to veteran care.

I mailed the results of this qualitative action research project to each focus group participant. The information shared with the study participants will provide the opportunity for them to share the emerging themes with their department supervisors and assist in the development of methods of understanding that focus on social workers role in PCC facilitation with the interdisciplinary team.

Implications for Social Change

This qualitative action research captured, described, and explained the very essence of a perceived phenomenon experienced by social workers interacting with an interdisciplinary team. The outcomes of this action research can impact social change at the micro, mezzo, and macro levels.

Micro-Level Change

At the micro-level, social workers are aware of the barriers encountered when working with an interdisciplinary team. At this level, the social workers will be working directly with the interdisciplinary team on improved communication, providing education on the scope of social work practice, advocating for the profession of social work, and advocating for PCC delivery across disciplines represented in the interdisciplinary team.

The information from this qualitative action research will impact positive social change at the personal practice level for interdisciplinary team members. The data gathered will allow interdisciplinary team members to examine roles, leadership, and a mutually agreed-upon definition of PCC. Additionally, it will encourage team cohesiveness regarding inclusiveness and allowing the veteran to play a leadership role in their treatment. There is potential for impacts of social change in personal practice. Social

workers that are members of an interdisciplinary team are aware of barriers to PCC with the team; however, know about breaking down barriers through improved communication

The literature shows positive outcomes with the practice of PCC with an interdisciplinary team; However, there remains a gap in the facilitation of PCC for an interdisciplinary team and social work inclusion. The implication for social work practice and to facilitate positive change for the interdisciplinary team is defining PCC across disciplines and closing the gap between social workers and other disciplines represented in the interdisciplinary team.

The focus group members of this qualitative action research study can serve as educators and maximize communication for the interdisciplinary team. The focus group members can share the findings from this study with members of the interdisciplinary team and facilitate meetings to increase communication between team members, develop an agreed-upon definition of PCC to accommodate the translation across disciplines and a protocol in the implementation of the interdisciplinary team PCC approach with the veteran. This communication will assist the interdisciplinary team in the discovery of the most effective.

Mezzo-Level Change

At the mezzo level, social workers can work with their agency or hospital in defining the scope of social work practice and PCC. With this knowledge, social workers can begin to work to remove barriers by providing agency leadership with education on the extent of social work practice and their role in the application of PCC. The mezzo

level of social change will allow the agency leadership to examine the structure of the interdisciplinary teams and the best approach to implement the basic tenets of PCC to best benefit the needs identified by the veteran.

Macro-Level Change

At the macro level, the information gathered from this study can be presented at conferences and training for social workers across the state. The presentation can include perceived barriers and recommendations to create social change. The results from this qualitative action research can be useful in the development of a universal and all-inclusive definition of PCC that eliminates perceived barriers across disciplines with the practice of PCC with veterans and civilian populations. Social workers will take a leadership role and advocate for the profession at all levels for changes at the local, state, and national levels

Summary

The goal of the action research study was to gain a better understanding of the role that social work plays with an interdisciplinary team on an inpatient psychiatric unit. Social workers that have experience working with an inpatient psychiatric unit exclusively with veterans were invited to participate. The participating social workers shared perceived barriers to participating in interdisciplinary psychiatric treatment teams and thoughts on what would help them deliver more effective PCC to veterans with mental health disorders. It is my professional goal that the results from this study will inspire and empower other social workers to become stronger advocates for the profession and take roles of leadership to facilitate change. The participants in the study

concur that change needs to occur for social workers on an interdisciplinary team and the need for more respect for the profession. Some key findings influenced me as a professional. I was remarkably surprised to find that many of those participating shared in my experiences and the agreement in the augmentation of communication and education for team members. There were identified gaps in communication and the other interdisciplinary team members not being fully aware of the scope of social work practice. My personal experiences were validated, but I am also empowered to take a leadership role in the facilitation of better communication with the interdisciplinary team.

The group members agreed the definition of PCC across disciplines varies and creates a barrier for social work facilitation of PCC with the interdisciplinary team. Each member of the interdisciplinary team is focused on and practicing, PCC from their area of expertise. The results of this study have empowered me to begin a dialogue on what PCC means to each discipline on the team in hopes to establish a definition that guides the trajectory of the interdisciplinary teamwork and PCC in the future.

Through the active facilitation of this qualitative action research study, my knowledge has grown. I hope that the finding in this study will empower other social workers and interdisciplinary team members to deliver PCC to all patients, build the team cohesiveness, practice communication and have a respectful understanding of each disciplines practice and individual roles on the team.

References

- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, *23*(3), 121-127.
- Barry, C. N., Abraham, K. M., Weaver, K. R., & Bowersox, N. W. (2016). Innovating team-based outpatient mental health care in the Veterans Health Administration: Staff-perceived benefits and challenges to pilot implementation of the Behavioral Health Interdisciplinary Program (BHIP). *Psychological Services*, *13*(2), 148-155. doi:10.1037/ser0000072
- Berghout, M., Exel, J. V., Leensvaart, L., & Cramm, J. M. (2015). Healthcare professionals' views on patient-centered care in hospitals. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*(1), 385-397. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-1049-z
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist*, 32(7), 513-531. doi:10.1037//0003-066x.32.7.513
- Bronstein, L. (2003). A model for interdisciplinary collaboration. *Social Work, 48*(3), 297-306. doi:10.1093/sw/48.3.297

- Browne, T., Darnell, J., Estes, Savage, T.,& Brown, A. (2015). Social workers as patient navigators: A review of the literature. *Social Work Research*, *39*(3), 158-166. doi:10.1093/swr/svv017
- Buettgen, A., Richardson, J., Beckham, K., Richardson, K., Ward, M., & Riemer, M.
 (2012). We did it together: A participatory action research study on poverty and disability. *Disability & Society*, 27(5), 603-616.
 doi:10.1080/09687599.2012.669106
- Bunger, A. C. (2010). Defining service coordination: A social work perspective. *Journal of Social Service Research*, *36*(5), 385-401. doi:10.1080/01488376.2010.510931
- Burgo-Black, A. L., Brown, J. L., Boyce, R. M., & Hunt, S. C. (2016). The importance of taking a military history. *Public Health Reports*, *131*(5), 711-713. doi:10.1177/0033354916660073
- Byrne, L., Happell, B., Welch, T., & Moxham, L. J. (2013). 'Things you can't learn from books': Teaching recovery from a lived experience perspective. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 22(3), 195-204. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0349.2012. 00875.x
- Carcary, M. (2009). The research audit trial--Enhancing trustworthiness in qualitative inquiry. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 7(1), 11-24.

 Available at www.ejbrm.com
- Carpenter, J. (2002). Mental health recovery paradigm: Implications for social work. *Health & Social Work, 27*(2), 86-94. doi:10.1093/hsw/27.2.86

- Case, A., Byrd, R., Claggett, E., DeVeaux, S., Perkins, R., Huang, C., . . . Kaufman, J. (2014). Stakeholders' perspectives on community-based participatory research to enhance mental health services. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *54*(3/4), 397-408. doi:10.1007/s10464-014-9677-8
- Castellan, C. M. (2010). Quantitative and qualitative research: A view for clarity. *International Journal of Education*, 2(2), 1-14. doi:10.5296/ije.v2i2.446
- Castleberry, A., & Nolan, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(1), 807-815. doi:10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chiu, M. L., Ho, W. N., Lo, W. L., & Yiu, M. C. (2010). Operationalization of the SAMHSA model of recovery: A quality of life perspective. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care, and Rehabilitation, 19*(1), 1-13. doi:10.1007/s11136-009-9555-2
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, *25*(6), 435-436. Available at Gale Academic Onefile, Document Number A47629520.
- Craig, S., Frankford, R., Allan, K., Williams, C., Schwartz, C., Yaworski, A., & Malek-Saniee, S. (2016). Self-reported patient psychosocial needs in integrated primary health care: A role for social work in interdisciplinary teams. *Social Work in Health Care*, *55*(1), 41-60. doi:10.1080/00981389.2015.1085483
- Craig, S. L., & Muskat, B. (2013). Bouncers, brokers, and glue: The self-described roles of social workers in urban hospitals. *Health & Social Work*, *38*(1), 7-16. doi:10.1093/hsw/hls064

- Darling, N. (2007). Ecological systems theory: The person in the center of the circles. *Research in Human Development*, *4*(3/4), 203-217. doi:10.1080/15427600701663023
- Dilshad, R. M., & Latif, M. I. (2013). Focus group interview as a tool for qualitative research: An analysis. *Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences (PJSS)*, *33*(1), 191-198. Retrieved from http://www.bzu.edu.pk/PJSS/Vol33No12013/PJSS-Vol33-No1-16.pdf
- Drapalski, A. L., Medoff, D., Unick, G. J., Velligan, D. I., Dixon, L. B., & Bellack, A. S. (2012). Assessing recovery of people with serious mental illness: Development of a new scale. *Psychiatric Services*, *63*(1), 48-53. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201100109
- Elbourne, H., & Le May, A. (2012). A multidisciplinary approach to person-centered practice. *Nursing & Residential Care*, *14*(4), 199-202. doi:10.12968/nrec.2012.14.4.199
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open, 4*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Enguidanos, S., Coulourides Kogan, A. M., Schreibeis-Baum, H., Lendon, J., & Lorenz, K. (2015). 'Because I was sick': Seriously ill veterans' perspectives on the reason for 30-day readmissions. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *63*(3), 537-542. doi:10.1111/jgs.13238
- Etingen, B., Miskevics, S., & Lavela, S. L. (2016). Assessing the associations of patientreported perceptions of PCC as supplemental measures of health care quality in

- VA. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *31*(S1), 10-20. doi:10.1007/s11606-015-3557-2
- Evans, G. L. (2013). A novice researcher's first walk through the maze of grounded theory: Rationalization for classical grounded theory. *Grounded Theory Review,* 12(1), 37-55. Retrieved from http://groundedtheoryreview.com/2013/06/22/anovice-researchers-first-walk-through-the-maze-of-grounded-theoryrationalization-for-classical-grounded-theory/; https://doaj.org/toc/1556-1542; https://doaj.org/toc/1556-1550
- Exec. Order No. 13263, 67 Fed. Reg. 86, 22337-22338 (April 29,2002).
- Farley, J. E. (1994). Transitions in psychiatric inpatient clinical social work. *Social Work*, 39(2), 207-212. doi:10.1093/sw/39.2.207
- Fassinger, R., & Morrow, S. L. (2013). Toward best practices in quantitative, qualitative, and mixed-method research: A social justice perspective. *Journal for Social Action in Counseling & Psychology*, *5*(2), 69-83. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/3133/f34862794ea1e2e45dc21b67603aac368ada. pdf http://www.psysr.org/jsacp/Fassinger-V5N2-13 69-83.pdf
- Fix, G. M., Asch, S. M., Saifu, H. N., Fletcher, M. D., Gifford, A. L., & Bokhour, B. G. (2014). Delivering PACT-principled care: Are specialty care patients being left behind? *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 29(S2), 695-702. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2677-9

- Flannelly, L. T., Flannelly, K. J., & Jankowski, K. B. (2014). Fundamentals of measurement in health care research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20(2), 75-82. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.906262
- Franziska, R., Albrecht, K., Sebastian R., & Matthias, J. (2014). A recovery-oriented approach for an acute psychiatric ward: Is it feasible, and how does it affect staff satisfaction? *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 85(2), 225-239. doi:10.1007/s11126-013-9285-z
- Frerichs, L., Lich, K. H., Dave, G., & Corbie-Smith, G. (2016). Integrating systems science and community-based participatory research to achieve health equity.

 American Journal of Public Health, 106(2), 215-222.

 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302944
- Frese, F. J., Stanley, J., Kress, K., & Vogel-Scibilia, S. (2001). Integrating evidence-based practices and the recovery model. *Psychiatric Services*, *52*(11), 1462-1468. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.52.11.1462
- Frost, B. G., Tirupati, S., Johnston, S., Turrell, M., Lewin, T. J., Sly, K. A., & Conrad, A. M. (2017). An integrated recovery-oriented model (IRM) for mental health services: Evolution and challenges. *BMC Psychiatry*, 17, 22-38. doi:10.1186/s12888-016-1164-3
- Gachoud, D., Albert, M., Kuper, A., Stroud, L., & Reeves, S. (2012). Meanings and perceptions of patient-centeredness in social work, nursing, and medicine: A comparative study. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, *26*(6), 484-490. doi:10.3109/13561820.2012.717553

- Gale, N., Heath, G., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2013). Using the framework method for analysis of qualitative data in a multi-disciplinary health research. *Medical Research Methodology*, *13*(117), 1-8. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-117
- Getty, S. (2015). Implementing a mental health program using the recovery model. *OT Practice*, 20(3), CE1-CE8. Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/1656037849?accountid=14872
- Giannitrapani, K. F., Soban, L., Hamilton, A. B., Rodriguez, H., Huynh, A., Stockdale, S., . . . Rubenstein, L. V. (2016). Role expansion on interprofessional primary care teams: Barriers of role self-efficacy among clinical associates. *Healthcare*, *4*(4), 321-326. doi: 10.1016/j.hjdsi.2016.03.004
- Gibbs, A. (1997). Focus groups. *Social Research Update, 19*(8), 1-8. Retrieved from http://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU19.html
- Giles, R. (2016). Social workers' perceptions of multi-disciplinary teamwork: A case study of health social workers at a major regional hospital in New Zealand.

 *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work Review, 28(1), 25-33. doi: 10.11157/anzswj-vol28iss1id113
- Grace, S. M., Rich, J., Chin, W., & Rodriguez, H. P. (2014). Flexible implementation and integration of new team members to support PCC. *Healthcare*, *2*(2), 145-151. doi: 10.1016/j.hjdsi.2014.02.003
- Hack, S. M., Medoff, D. R., Brown, C. H., Fang, L., Dixon, L. B., Klingaman, E. A., . . . Kreyenbuhl, J. A. (2016). Predictors of patient communication in psychiatric

- medication encounters among veterans with serious mental illnesses. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *39*(2), 183-186. doi:10.1037/prj0000192
- Hawk, M., Ricci, E., Huber, G., & Meyers, M. (2015). Opportunities for social workers in the patient-centered medical home. *Social Work in Public Health*, *30*, 175-184. doi:10.1080/19371918.2014.969862
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in journal of counseling & development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94(2), 172-183. doi:10.1002/jcad.12074
- Hebblethwaite, S. (2013). "I think that it could work but . . .": Tensions between the theory and practice of person-centered and relationship-centered care. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, 47(1), 13-34. Retrieved from EBSCO*host*, ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=t rue&db=rzh&AN=108010727&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Heron, J., & Reason, P. (1997). A participatory inquiry paradigm. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 3(3), 274-294. doi:10.1177/107780049700300302
- Hoffler, E. F., Dekle, J. W., & Sheets, C. (2014). Social work with service members, veterans, and their families. *Health & Social Work*, *39*(1), 3-5. doi:10.1093/hsw/hlu007
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Meehan, B., Thomas, J., Brooker, D., & Casey, D. (2017). From screening to synthesis: using NVivo to enhance transparency in qualitative evidence synthesis. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *26*(5/6), 873-881.

- doi:10.1111/jocn.13443
- Humphries, J. L., & Howard, R. W. (2014). Developing effective leadership competencies in military social workers. *U.S. Army Medical Department Journal, (Oct-Dec)*, 3-7. Retrieved from http://www.cs.amedd.army.mil/FileDownloadpublic.aspx?docid= cd8b9de8-1116-4e30-8826-026b6f777107
- Hutchison, A. J., Johnston, L. H., & Breckon, J. D. (2010). Using QSR-NVivo to facilitate the development of a grounded theory project: an account of a worked example. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *13*(4), 283-302. doi:10.1080/13645570902996301
- Iannuzzi, D., Kopecky, K., Broder-Fingert, S., & Connors, S. L. (2015). Addressing the needs of individuals with autism: Role of hospital-based social workers in implementation of a PCC plan. *Health & Social Work*, 40(3), 245-248. doi:10.1093/hsw/hlv032
- Jones, A. L., Cochran, S. D., Leibowitz, A., Wells, K. B., Kominski, G., & Mays, V. M. (2015). Usual primary care provider characteristics of a patient-centered medical home and mental health service use. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 30(12), 1828-1836. doi:10.1007/s11606-015-3417-0
- Jormfeldt, H., Brunt, D. A., Rask, M., Bengtsson, A., & Svedberg, P. (2013). Staff's experiences of a person-centered health education group intervention for people with a persistent mental illness. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *34*(7), 488-496. doi:10.3109/01612840.2013.775614

- Ke, K. M., Blazeby, J. M., Strong, S., Carroll, F. E., Ness, A. R., & Hollingworth, W. (2013). Are multidisciplinary teams in secondary care cost-effective? A systematic review of the literature. *Cost-Effectiveness and Resource Allocation*, 11(1), 7-19.doi:10.1186/1478-7547-11-7
- Kerson, T. S., & McCoyd, J. M. (2013). In response to need: An analysis of social work roles over time. *Social Work*, *58*(4), 333-343. doi:10.1093/sw/swt035
- Kidd, S. A., McKenzie, K. J., & Virdee, G. (2014). Mental health reform at a systems-level: Widening the lens on recovery-oriented care. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *59*(5), 243-249. doi:10.1177/070674371405900503
- Kitzinger, J. (1995). Qualitative research: Introducing focus groups. *BMJ*, *311*(7000), 299-302. doi:10.1136/bmj.311.7000.299
- Krauss, S. E. (2005). Research paradigms and meaning making: A primer. *The Qualitative Report*, 10(4), 758-770. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol10/iss4/7
- Krefting, L. (1991). Rigor in qualitative research: the assessment of trustworthiness. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 45(3), 214-222. doi:10.5014/ajot.45.3.214
- Kristiansen, C. B., Juel, A., Hansen, M. V., Hansen, A. M., Kilian, R., & Hjorth, P.
 (2015). Promoting physical health in severe mental illness: patient and staff perspective. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 132(6), 470-478.
 doi:10.1111/acps.12520

- Klingaman, E. A., Medoff, D. R., Park, S. G., Brown, C. H., Fang, L., Dixon, L. B., & Kreyenbuhl, J. A. (2015). Consumer satisfaction with psychiatric services: The role of shared decision making and the therapeutic relationship. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 38(3), 242-248. doi:10.1037/prj0000114
- Koblinsky, S. A., Schroeder, A. L., & Leslie, L. A. (2017). "Give us respect, support, and understanding": Women veterans of Iraq and Afghanistan recommend strategies for improving their mental health care. *Social Work in Mental Health*, *15*(2), 121-142. doi:10.1080/15332985.2016.1186134
- Kymalainen, J. A., Henze, K. T., DeLuca, M., Mitton, T. A., Walton, H. M., Duffy, P., . . . Pinsky, J. (2010). Are we there yet? The four-year impact of a VA fellowship program on the recovery orientation of rehabilitation programs. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *33*(4), 320-327. doi:10.2975/33.4.2010.320.327
- Leddy-Stacy, M., Stefanovics, E., & Rosenheck, R. (2016). Veteran and clinician perceptions of recovery and stigma at a veterans affairs medical center.

 *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal, 39(2), 105-111. doi:10.1037/prj0000174
- Leipzig, R. M., Hyer, K., Ek, K., Wallenstein, S., Vezina, M. L., Fairchild, S., & Howe, J. L. (2002). Attitudes toward working on interdisciplinary healthcare teams: a comparison by discipline. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *50*(6), 1141-1148.
- Lennon-Dearing, R., Florence, J. A., Halvorson, H., & Pollard, J. T. (2012). An interprofessional educational approach to teaching spiritual assessment. *Journal*

- of Health Care Chaplaincy, 18(3/4), 121-132. doi:10.1080/08854726.2012.720546
- Lind, J. D., Powell-Cope, G., Chavez, M. A., Fraser, M., & Harrow, J. (2013).

 Negotiating domains of patient dignity in VA spinal cord injury units:

 Perspectives from interdisciplinary care teams and veterans. *Annals of Anthropological Practice*, *37*(2), 130-148. doi:10.1111/napa.12027
- Lohmeier Law, K., & Saunders, J. A. (2016). Engaging consumer voices in health care policy: Lessons for social work practice. *Health & Social Work*, *41*(1), 9-16. doi:10.1093/hsw/hlv087
- Magnes, N. S. (2015). Gratitude and well-being in veterans participating in a peerprovided service in a mental health residential rehabilitation treatment
 program (Doctoral dissertation, Northcentral University, 2015) (pp. 1-24). Ann
 Arbor, MI: ProQuest, LLC.
- Martin, C. M., & Félix-Bortolotti, M. (2014). Person-centered health care: a critical assessment of current and emerging research approaches. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 20(6), 1056-1064. doi:10.1111/jep.12283
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in Ph.D. studies using qualitative interviews. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 11(3), 1-19. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-11.3.1428
- McGuire, A. B., White, D. A., White, L. M., & Salyers, M. P. (2013). Implementation of illness management and recovery in the Veterans Administration: An online

- survey. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *36*(4), 264-271. doi:10.1037/prj0000032
- McLendon, T. M. (2014). Social workers' perspectives regarding the DSM: Implications for social work education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *50*(3), 454-471. doi:10.1080/10437797.2014.917930
- McNiff, J. (2016). You and your action research project (4th ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Mio, I., Yasuyuki, O., Naoya, S., Hana, H., Toshie, N., Yoshio, H., & Hiroto, I. (2017).
 Feasibility and efficacy of shared decision making for first-admission
 schizophrenia: A randomized clinical trial. *BMC Psychiatry*, 17, 1-6.
 doi:10.1186/s12888-017-1218-1
- Morse, J. M. (2017). Application of mixed-methods research in clinical practice. *Aguichan*, 17(1), 5-6. doi:10.5294/aqui.2017.17.1.1
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 52(2), 250-260. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250
- Müller, C., Plewnia, A., Becker, S., Rundel, M., Zimmermann, L., & Körner, M. (2015).
 Expectations and requests regarding team training interventions to promote interdisciplinary collaboration in medical rehabilitation--A qualitative study. *BMC Medical Education*, 15, 135-148. doi:10.1186/s12909-015-0413-3
- Murphy, D., Duggan, M., & Joseph, S. (2013). Relationship-based social work and its compatibility with the person-centered approach: Principled versus instrumental

- perspectives. *British Journal of Social Work*, 43(4), 703-719. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcs003
- National Association of Social Workers. (2008). *Code of ethics of the National Association of Social Workers*. Retrieved from https://www.socialworkers.org/pubs/code/code.asp
- National Association of Social Workers. (2012). NASW standards for social work

 practice with service members, veterans, and their families. Retrieved from

 http://www.socialworkers.org/

 practice/military/documents/MilitaryStandards2012.pdf
- Norton, C. L., Russell, A., Wisner, B., & Uriarte, J. (2011). Reflective teaching in social work education: Findings from a participatory action research study. *Social Work Education*, *30*(4), 392-407. doi:10.1080/02615479.2010.500658
- Oliver, C. (2013). Social workers as boundary spanners: Reframing our professional identity for interprofessional practice. *Social Work Education*, *32*(6), 773-784. doi:10.1080/02615479.2013.765401
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Dickinson, W. B., Leech, N. L., & Zoran, A. G. (2009). A qualitative framework for collecting and analyzing data in focus group research.

 International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 8(3), 1-21.

 doi:10.1177/160940690900800301
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and*

- Mental Health Services Research, 42(5), 533-544.doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528y
- Peres, J. (2016). A time and place: The role of social workers in improving end-of-life care. *Journal of Social Work in End-of-Life & Palliative Care*, 12(3), 185-194. doi:10.1080/15524256.2016.1200522
- Perkins, R., & Slade, M. (2012). Recovery in England: Transforming statutory services? *International Review of Psychiatry*, 24(1), 29-39.

 doi:10.3109/09540261.2011.645025
- Piña, I. L., Cohen, P. D., Larson, D. B., Marion, L. N., Sills, M. R., Solberg, L. I., & Zerzan, J. (2015). A framework for describing health care delivery organizations and systems. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*(4), 670-679. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.301926
- Rabenschlag, F., Konrad, A., Rueegg, S., & Jaeger, M. (2014). A recovery-oriented approach for an acute psychiatric ward: is it feasible, and how does it affect staff satisfaction? *The Psychiatric Quarterly*, 85(2), 225-239. doi:10.1007/s11126-013-9285-z
- Radohl, T. (2016). Living a meaningful life with serious mental illness: Defining and understanding personal medicine. *Journal of the Society for Social Work & Research*, 7(2), 345-369. doi:10.1086/686807
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (Eds.) (2013). *Qualitative research*practice: A guide for social science students and researchers (2nd ed.). Los

 Angeles, CA: SAGE. Retrieved from EBSCOhost,

 ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=t

- rue&db=edswss&AN=000344205100010&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. (2016). Essential research methods for social work (4th ed.).

 Boston, MA: Cengage.
- Schofield, R., & Amodeo, M. (1999). Interdisciplinary teams in health care and human services settings: Are they effective? *Health & Social Work*, *24*(3), 210-219. doi:10.1093/hsw/24.3.210
- Slana, M., Dobrikova, P., Hromkova, M., & Letovancova, K. (2016). Social work in hospitals in Slovakia: current working conditions and difficulties in the view of other professionals. *Scientific Annals of the "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University, IaşI. New Series: Sociology and Social Work Section, 9*(1), 81-98. Retrieved from http://anale.fssp.uaic.ro/index.php/asas/article/view/429
- Smith, J. C., Hyman, S. M., Andres-Hyman, R. C., Ruiz, J. J., & Davidson, L. (2016).

 Applying recovery principles to the treatment of trauma. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 47(5), 347-355. doi:10.1037/pro0000105
- Smith-Osborne, A. (2015). An intensive continuing education initiative to train social workers for military social work practice. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *51*, S89-S101. doi:10.1080/10437797.2015.1001290
- Snyder, F. J. (2014). Socio-emotional and character development: A theoretical orientation. *Journal of Research in Character Education*, 10(2), 107-127. Retrieved from
- https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4605220/pdf/nihms724161.pdf Stringer, E. T. (2007). *Action research* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). *Recovery and recovery support*. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/recovery
- Tai, J., & Ajjawi, R. (2016). Undertaking and reporting qualitative research. *The Clinical Teacher*, 13(3), 175-182. doi:10.1111/tct.12552
- Thompson, C. V., Bennett, J. L., Sable, J. R., & Gravink, J. (2016). Northeast passage PATH program: A strengths-based and recovery-oriented approach for veterans who experience mental health disorders. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, 50(2), 138-154.doi:10.18666/trj-2016-v50-i2-6788
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2017). *About the Affordable Care Act*.

 Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about-the-aca/index.html
- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (2012). History VA social work: Social work in the

 Department of Veterans Affairs. Retrieved from

 www.socialwork.va.gov/about.asp
- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (2013). *Veterans Health Administration: PCC*.

 Retrieved from https://www.va.gov/PATIENTCENTEREDCARE/
- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (2016). Evaluating VA PCC: Patient, provider, and organizational views. Retrieved from https://www.queri.research.va.gov/partnered_evaluation/patient_care.cfm
- Vijayalakshmy, P., Hebert, C., Green, S., & Ingram, C. L. (2011). Integrated

multidisciplinary treatment teams; a mental health model for outpatient settings in the military. *Military Medicine*, 176(9), 986–990. doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-11-00070

- Walsh, J. (2013). *Theories for direct social work practice* (3rd ed.). Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning.
- Whitaker, T. R. (2014). The National Association of Social Workers' commentary on "Joint Principles: Integrating behavioral health care into the patient-centered medical home." *Families, Systems, & Health*, 32(2), 143-144. doi:10.1037/fsh0000041
- Whitchurch G.G., Constantine L.L. (2009) Systems Theory. In: Boss P., Doherty W.J.,

 LaRossa R., Schumm W.R., Steinmetz S.K. (eds) Sourcebook of Family Theories
 and Methods. Springer, Boston, MA
- Wooten, N. R. (2015). Military social work: opportunities and challenges for social work education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *51*(1), S6-S25. doi:10.1080/10437797.2015.1001274
- Xenakis, S. N. (2014). Posttraumatic stress disorder: Beyond best practices. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, *31*(2), 236-244. doi:10.1037/a0036244
- Zimmerman, J., & Dabelko, H. I. (2007). Collaborative models of patient care: New opportunities for hospital social workers. *Social Work in Health Care*, *44*(4), 33-47. doi:10.1300/J010v44n04_03

Zuehlke, J. B., Kotecki, R. M., Kern, S., Sholty, G., & Hauser, P. (2016). Transformation to a recovery-oriented model of care on a veteran's administration inpatient unit.

*Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal, 39(4), 361-363. doi:10.1037/prj00001

Appendix A: Invitation

Dear **Participant (Insert name here)**,

I want to invite you to take part in a focus group (small discussion group) on a date and time to later be announced. The focus is on the role that social workers play with an interdisciplinary team in the practice of patient-centered care on an inpatient psychiatric unit. The focus group discussion should last approximately two hours. The focus group will provide an opportunity for you to provide knowledge about the social worker's role and identify barriers to patient-centered care on an inpatient psychiatric unit. This focus group will explore how you perceive your role as a social worker with an interdisciplinary team setting and identify potential barriers to social workers in a leadership role in discussion regarding patient-centered care in the same setting.

If you accept this invitation to participate, your views and opinions will be used to help educate members of an interdisciplinary team on the role of social workers in the implementation of patient-centered care on the inpatient psychiatric unit. If you would like to participate in this focus group or have any questions, please respond by contacting Michelle Noce-Owen, LGSW at Alesia.Noce-Owen@waldenu.edu. After the participants for the focus group are selected, you will be contacted by email. The email will include information on the times and dates of the scheduled focus groups.

Respectfully,

Michelle Noce-Owen

Appendix B: Demographics and Information Worksheet

Name	:	Interview Number:	
Conta	act number:		
Home	:()	Cell: ()	
Conta	ct email:		
Date:			
Time:		-	
	nat is your date of birth? nat is your gender? O Male		
3. Wi	O Female th which racial or ethnic African American	category do you identify?	
0	Asian/Pacific Islander		
0	Caucasian		
0	Hispanic/Latino		
0	Other		
Other	(please, specify):		
4. Ho	w long have you had you O 1 - 5 years O 6 - 10 years O 11 - 15 years O 16 - 20 years O More than 20 years		
5. WI O O	nat is your licensure or de Licensed Generalist So Licensed Certified Soci Licensed Independent C	ial Worker	

0	PhD			
0	DSW			
0	MSW			
6. How	ow long have you worked as a hospital social worker? years hs			
7. How	ow long have you worked with mental health patients? years hs			
8. Hov	ow long have you been working with an interdisciplinary team? years months			
9. Wh	hat is your area of social work specialization? Homeless			
0	Residential Treatment			
0	Inpatient Hospital Social Work			
0	Outpatient Hospital Social Work			
0	Suicide Prevention			
0	Home Based Primary Care			
O Leg	egal Assistance Other (please, specify):			
10. W	What percentage of your work involves working with an inpatient psyc Less than 5%	chiatric unit?		
	- 10% 11 - 15% 16 - 20% 21 - 30% 31 - 40% - 50% ore than 50%			

Appendix C: Focus Group Questions

Focus Group Interview Questions

Introduction of Focus of the Study

The purpose of this study is to explore your role as a social worker in the facilitation of patient-centered care on an inpatient psychiatric unit. An additional purpose of this study is to explore the perception you have of your role as the social worker participating with an interdisciplinary team. You were recruited for this action research study because of your role in hospital social work and your affiliation with an inpatient psychiatric unit and experience with an interdisciplinary team. The focus of the questions will be on perceived barriers to social work implementation of patient-centered care on an inpatient psychiatric unit, factors that aid or impede your role and your experience regarding patient-centered care in treatment, discharge and safety planning. Everything you say during the focus group is confidential, and participants will be asked to sign a confidentiality agreement.

Social Work Role, Perceptions, and Barriers on an Inpatient Psychiatric Unit

- 1. How do you perceive your role in providing PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit?
- 2. What are your feelings regarding social work involvement in implementation or discussions regarding PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit?
- 3. What, if anything, would you change about your role in PCC with an interdisciplinary team for you to be more effective?
- 4. How does your role fit with your understanding of standard social work practice regarding PCC on an inpatient psychiatric unit?
 - a. Probe: If it does not, how is it different?
- 5. Describe a time where you, as a social worker, felt your role positively or negatively affected a PCC discussion in a complex care situation.
- 6. Describe your feelings about the interaction between the different medical providers when and if you are included, and is the discussion patient-centered?
- 7. What benefits or consequences have you experienced or witnessed when social workers are involved in patient-centered treatment, discharge, and safety planning?

- 8. What barriers prevent you from participating in PCC in treatment, discharge, and safety planning? What makes you feel supported or unsupported by an inpatient psychiatric team in initiating PCC discussions?
- 9. To what extent do you feel your skills as a social worker are maximized on an inpatient psychiatric unit or with an interdisciplinary team as it relates to the tenets of PCC?
- 10. How do you think the field of social work could be improved regarding PCC?